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Message from the Management Board  
 

 
 
This report refers to the activity of Metropolitano de Lisboa ("ML") and the results obtained in 
the year 2013, having completed 54 years of service to the city of Lisbon. 
 
Compared to 2013, which was the first year of full joint management of Metropolitano de 
Lisboa and CARRIS, the progressive integration of the two companies must be considered in 
the current assessment of ML’s activity. 
 
Consequently, ML continued to ensure as its main objective a more sustainable mobility in the 
metropolitan area of Lisbon, but now focusing on the pursuit of a more integrated mobility of 
two modes of public transport’s excellence, within the city. Thus, it aimed at ensuring more 

rational, more efficient and hence more economical mobility. 
 
Bearing this in mind, several steps described in this Report were taken by the Management Board, which materialized in 
the good results obtained, clearly indicated by the increase in EBITDA to €24.6 million, €3.8 million more than in 2012. 
 
To these results contributed, firstly, the significant downsizing of ML’s staff members, a process still ongoing, which 
resulted in a reduction of 76 employees, with the consequent decrease of 1.9% of payroll. However, the reinstatement 
of the Christmas bonus, increased allowances for contract terminations and the adoption of different criteria of cost 
accounting of the pension plan, justify the book increase by 14.7% in this item. 
 
Spending on “Supplies and external services” decreased by 10%, reflecting the rationalisation of costs by the Company, 
the effort of joint and aggregated procurement of services by ML and CARRIS, and also the provision of services 
between the two companies. Compensation from the State remained at the same level. 
 
Indeed, the Management Board has developed common efforts towards joint and aggregated procurement of services by 
ML and CARRIS, seeking wherever possible to benefit from the economies of scale generated for best commercial and 
contractual conditions. It was the case of energy, communications, printing equipment, diesel, among others. 
 
In order to take advantage of the vast knowledge in maintenance of railway rolling stock, part of the maintenance of 
CARRIS fleet of articulated tramways is now executed by ML with great efficiency. 
 
Joint ticket inspection actions were developed, and the Customer Care Spaces and Contact Centre are now common to 
both companies, which allows ML and CARRIS customers to obtain, in a more straightforward manner, the information 
and clarifications they need, in the commercial, operational and institutional aspects, in addition to the optimisation of 
the technical means and human resources allocated to this activity in the two companies. 
 
In 2013, at the level of internal communication, the means available in each company were replaced by a single 
magazine ("VIA LX") and a single newsletter, of particular importance for disseminating the new culture ML / CARRIS in 
phase construction and consolidation. 
 
Also at the level of human capital management, it was sought to encourage integration with the adoption of common 
processes of selection and assessment of employees, as well as the promotion of joint initiatives in the Training context, 
the most significant of which is the Academy. 
 
Although the overall results achieved are encouraging, we know that there is still much work to be done towards the 
progressive integration of the two business groups. 
 
Therefore, we must continue to optimise the use of resources, whether external or internal, with a view to eliminate some 
remaining inefficiencies. However, we are aware that all measures taken cannot postpone that is ML’s primary mission: 
To ensure the mobility of our customers according to requirements of environmental and economic sustainability. 
 
It should also be noted that, in 2013, the Company was awarded the Environmental Certification SGQA (NP EN ISO 
14001 Environmental management systems. Requirements). 
For the year 2014, the Management Board and the Company remain strongly committed to the budget reduction 
process, attracting new customers and combating fraud to improve demand. 
 
In order to simplify the fare system, with bases that will allow fairer remuneration for public transport operators, and a 
possible redesign of networks to better serve current and new customers, the review of the revenue split model among 
the operators in the Lisbon metropolitan area will continue. 
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This is a complex and demanding process, for which the Management Board and the Company’s management structure 
are strongly committed and motivated, supported in this intention by many staff members available to participate in this 
change. 
 
 
Lisbon, May 23, 2014 
 
 
The Management Board 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Pedro Gonçalo de Brito Aleixo Bogas 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Luís Carlos Antunes Barroso 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr.ª Maria Manuela Bruno de Figueiredo 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
 6 

Review of the year 2013 
 
 
The year 2013 was marked by a process of correction of macroeconomic imbalances accumulated over the past decades. 
 
Portugal's return to stable market financing, which is expected to happen from May 2014 onwards, is a demanding 
process which requires strict pursuance of the commitments made by the country. This is a key prerequisite for a strong 
credibility of the economic adjustment in the medium and long-term. This adjustment is reinforced under the current 
framework of European integration deepening, with emphasis on the creation of a true banking union and the 
implementation of new budgetary rules in the European Union. Internally, it is essential to establish credible broad scope 
commitments, in order to strengthen social cohesion and institutional consensus around these national goals. 
 
A process to which the ML could not, and cannot, be oblivious. 
 
On August 23, 2012, the Government appointed a joint Management Board for Metropolitano de Lisboa and Carris, 
exclusively composed by four Board members, common to both companies, a change which encompassed a reduction 
from 10 Board members (5 in each company) to only four. 
 
On June 7, 2013, the Management Board was further reduced to three members in the wake of the dismissal of the 
Board’s Chairman, Mr. José Manuel Silva Rodrigues, pursuant the Council of Ministers Resolution 40/2013 published in 
the Official Journal no. 115 of June 18, 2013. 
 
It should be reminded that this joint Board was entrusted primarily with the task of achieving the goals defined in the 
Strategic Plan for Transport (PET), approved by the Council of Ministers Resolution 45/2011, of November 10, for the 
urban transport in the Lisbon Metropolitan Area, which broadly aims at developing and implementing the operational 
integration of Metropolitano de Lisboa and Carris, as well as to study and prepare the model for opening the transport 
service provision currently carried out by these companies, to private entities. 
 
From the beginning of its mandate, the new joint Board has promoted, in a logic of integrated management of 
CARRIS|METROPOLITANO DE LISBOA, the consolidation and development of the quality of the public transport service 
provided in Lisbon in its different modes (tram, bus and metro), as a means of enhancing intermodality and modal 
integration to obtain significant gains in efficiency and productivity. In this regard, it should be added that the State 
Budget laws for 2012 and 2013 established several measures for the State-Owned Enterprise Sector, aimed at cutting 
costs and increasing economic efficiency, which are being fulfilled by the Company. 
 
This report clearly shows the ML’s evolution throughout 2013. 
 
In the transport sector, 2013 was the first full year of joint management of Metropolitano de Lisboa and CARRIS. 
 
In terms of fare policy in 2013, additional restructuring measures were carried out, continuing the Government’s policy 
defined in 2011 and 2012, which allowed for the increase of the average base fares, with the consequent positive 
impact on the Company’s fare revenue. 
 
Thus, since January 1, 2013, in compliance with the strategic objective of enhancing intermodality, the Navegante pass 
and the CARRIS|Metro Single Ticket were created, as well as better coordination of transport supply by CARRIS|Metro. 
 
During 2013, the ML and CARRIS operational integration process was reinforced and resulted in the following actions: 

 "Customer Care Space" with a common image and focused on the business of each company; 

 In terms of internal communication, the newsletter "VIA LX", common to both companies, was created; 

 Provision of internal services between both companies, leveraging the gains of each one; 

 Shared procurement of supplies of goods and services, maximizing the effect of scale economies; 

 Optimization of the Company’s management by resizing the staff, resulting in an overall reduction of 76 
employees in ML; 

 The reorganization of the production process in the maintenance department, transferring employees from 
rolling stock maintenance to infrastructure maintenance, improving the Company's performance and making it 
more competitive; The Company has developed a set of measures and actions aimed at leveraging synergies 
through the provision of maintenance services by the METROPOLITANO DE LISBOA workshops to CARRIS 
tramway cars, and closer collaboration between the two companies in maintenance area is being analysed. 

 
In terms of results, there was a great improvement in ML’s operating income, which stood positive at €22.6 million. 
EBITDA increased in 2013, reaching €24.6 million.  
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Compensatory allowances remained the same as the previous year, at €44 million. 
 
It is also noteworthy the large decrease of the Average Payment Period from 113 to 34 days due to a new company’s 
financial policy, which allowed greater bargaining power with suppliers. 
 
Considering the overall drop of 11.9% in demand as a result of reduced mobility and fraud, various short, medium and 
long-term measures were carried out, such as: 

 Investigation of scenarios linking CARRIS and ML as the structuring transport operators of the AML; 

 At the marketing level, innovative and integrated actions for enhancement of public transport were developed; 

 At the level of anti-fraud measures new legislation was prepared, aimed at making collection of fines and 
penalties more effective in 2014. 

 
In 2013, ML and Carris devised a program towards sharing the existing human and material resources in central areas of 
both companies, namely in the marketing and logistics areas, which also enabled shared procurement of goods and 
services, maximizing the effect of economies of scale by aggregation of procured entities, resulting in significant gains 
for both companies, with emphasis on the procurement of waste management services; high voltage electricity (AT), as 
well as medium (MT) and special low voltage  electricity (BTE) for both companies’ premises; diesel supply services, 
and, printer/multifunction equipment leases and procurement of the respective maintenance/technical support services. 
 
Also as part of cost reduction, it should be highlighted the significant downsizing of staff in 2013. In fact, there was an 
overall reduction of 76 employees from different functional and hierarchical levels, thus the Company was close to the 
target reduction set by the State Budget. 
 
It is also expected that the operational integration process itself, as it continues and is strengthened during 2014, will 
increase the staff reduction, especially in the corporate areas of both companies, which will result in increased efficiency 
and productivity, with positive impacts in the decrease of operating costs and improved performance which, in the end, 
will ultimately benefit public transport customers. 
 
From an holistic point of view in 2013, ML continued its adjustment to the needs of the market, optimising its business 
and making it more competitive. 
 
Also noteworthy, in terms of expansion projects, the national accreditation in 2013 by the Cohesion Fund, concerning a 
financial contribution of €59 million for the extension of the Blue line between Amadora Este and Reboleira, still awaiting 
approval by the European Commission. 
 
In short, it is possible to conclude that ML has consistently pursued its responsibility as an economic and social agent in 
the field of urban mobility, thus contributing to the development and sustainability of Lisbon city and its metropolitan 
area, in a context of integrated adjustment of its activity to the market needs, always guided by the principle of resource 
optimisation, in order to increase business efficiency and continuously improve its service quality. 
 
The 2013 fiscal year allowed the continuation of measures towards consolidating the operational improvement that ML 
has clearly and consistently revealed in various fields in recent years, which again was recognized and valued by several 
Company stakeholders, specifically its customers. 
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ML Group Subsidiary Companies 
 
ML Group subsidiary companies on December 31, 2013: 
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Key Performance Indicators 
1 2 

 

 
 
 

                                                           
1
 “Fare revenue” includes revenue from sales of “Lisboa viva” and “7 Colinas” cards and compensation from the State Budget for the discounts 

applied to “4_18@escola.tp”; “sub23@superior.tp” and "Social+" passes. 
2
 Values net of VAT. 

Va r.  %

2013/ 2012

Dem a nd

P assengers  with paid tickets  10³  165 191  170 858  164 845  141 382  125 153 -11,48 

P assengers 10³  176 726  182 642  178 774  154 005  135 712 -11,88 

P assengers  x km 10³  829 068  865 521  857 101  745 589  655 705 -12,06 

S upply

Cars  x km 10³  25 274  27 649  26 467  21 339  21 498 0,75 

S eats  x km 106  4 271  3 511  3 361  2 730  2 752 0,81 

S e rvice  qua lity

S ervice regularity % 90,1 92,3 89,4 84,9 87,8 3,42 

Incidents  caus ing delays  ≥ 10 min. no   141   147   202   245   185 -24,49 

MKB F km  12 982  13 932  14 373  12 639  13 616 7,73 

Infras tructure availability % n.d. n. d. 99,90 99,88 98,61 -1,27 

F lee t

ML 90 no   57   57   57   57   57 0,00 

ML 95 no   114   114   114   114   114 0,00 

ML 97 no   54   54   54   54   54 0,00 

ML 99 no   113   113   113   113   113 0,00 

Tota l no   338   338   338   338   338 0,00 

Hum a n resources

Operational areas no  1 415  1 437  1 365  1 289  1 230 -4,58 

Corporate services no   221   235   225   236   221 -6,36 

Tota l sta ff no  1 636  1 672  1 590  1 525  1 451 -4,85 

Incom e  a nd costs S NC

Fare revenue 10³ € 59 947      62 530      66 794      80 341      78 546      -2,23 

Compensatory allowances  10³ € 26 755      26 503      42 000      44 000      44 000      0,00 

Operating income 10³ € 114 799     114 645     136 069     148 298     183 657     23,84 

Total income 10³ € 110 477     114 380     136 056     148 298     183 633     23,83 

Operating costs 10³ € 226 332     210 752     206 674     150 417     161 033     7,06 

Total cos ts 10³ € 266 040     263 030     281 851     225 533     198 902     -11,81 

Operating results 10³ € (111 534)    (96 107)     (70 605)     (2 118)       22 624      1.168,00 

Net results 10³ € (146 977)    (148 337)    (146 052)    (77 332)     (15 308)     80,21 

E B ITDA 10³ € (38 410)     (31 833)     4 638        20 878      24 635      17,99 

Key:  n. a.  - not available.

2012 2013

* “Fa re revenue” includes  revenue from  s a les  of “L is boa  viva ” and “7 C olinas ” ca rds  and com pens a tion from  the S ta te Budget for the 

dis counts  applied to “4_18@ es cola .tp”; “s ub23@ s uperior.tp” and "S ocia l+" pas s es .

2009 2010 2011Indica tors
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At the end of 2013, ML’s network comprised 55 stations and 43.2 km, as shown in the diagram below: 
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1. Economic and financial management  
 
 
The following factors marked the Metropolitano de Lisboa’s economic and financial management in 2013: 

 Consolidation of the budget management policy as a reclassified public entity, benefiting from financial 
support from the State to meet the debt service commitments. 

 Continuation of the operating results improvement process by implementing measures aimed at efficiency 
enhancement and cost reduction. This process, which began in previous years, was streamlined and boosted 
with the operational integration between the Metro and CARRIS in the 4

th
 quarter of 2012. 

 As per the contract to manage the Financial Risk Management Instruments (IGRF) concluded with the 
Portuguese Treasury and Debt Management Agency (IGCP), this entity negotiated the early cancellation of 45 
contracts which represented approximately half the Metro’s portfolio value. 

 The shareholder financed the early settlement of IGRF contracts through an increase of the share capital, fully 
paid. 

 
 

1.1. Economic analysis 
 
In 2013, the net result amounted to €-15.3 million, an 80% improvement compared to the previous year’s results. 
 
Table 1 - Results 

 
 
This evolution was determined by a combination of factors: 

 An 18% growth in the EBITDA, as a consequence of the cost containment measures implemented in the 
Company; 

 Positive operating results, with an increase of €24.7 million when compared to 2012. This increase resulted 
primarily from the positive variation of the IGRF portfolio value regarding ML financing; 

 A 50% decrease (€37 million) in ML’s interest charges. The early cancellation of the IGRF had a significant 
impact on these expenses, given that the shareholder financed this cancellation through capital injections. 

 
Operating income grew by 24%, as shown below: 
 
Table 2 – Operating income 

 
 

Unit: €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

E BITDA 24 635 377           20 878 454           18,0%

Opera ting res ults 22 623 909           (2 118 348)            1168,0%

Net res ults  for the fis ca l yea r (15 307 839)          (77 332 060)          80,2%

Res ults
P er iod

Unit: €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

S a les  of tickets  and pas s es 77 487 718              78 381 310              -1,1%

4_18@ es cola .tp / s ub23@ s uperior.tp / S ocia l + pas s es 1 058 167                1 959 570                -46,0%

P AII - S enior C itizens ' Integra ted S upport  305 482                    142 623                   114,2%

C om pens a tory a llowance 44 000 000              44 000 000              0,0%

P ublic  s ervic e revenue 122 851 367            124 483 503            -1,3%

Non-fa re revenue 3 600 669                3 351 744                7,4%

Own work capita lis ed 1 945 091                4 464 959                -56,4%

Increas es  in fa ir va lue 23 199 397              -                                 -

Other incom e and ga ins 29 336 492              4 611 385                536,2%

P rovis ions  and revers a ls 2 724 161                11 386 823              -76,1%

Other incom e 60 805 810              23 814 911              155,3%

Tota l 183 657 177            148 298 414            23,8%

P eriod
Opera ting incom e
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Fare revenue decreased by 1% when compared to 2012. This was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from passes 
and, in particular, multimodal passes with sales down by 11%. The positive trend (+5.1%) of revenue from non-frequent 
tickets mitigated the decline of sales in monthly passes. 
 
The compensation for student passes also decreased significantly as a consequence of changes in the rules for assigning 
reduced-rate passes, made at the beginning of the 2012/2013 school year, limiting the assignment only to certain 
income brackets. 

Thus, as a whole, revenue from the provision of transport services decreased 1.3%. As for other types of revenue, the 
following should be noted: 

 The positive evolution of non-fare revenue, reflecting the Company's commitment to develop new business 
segments; 

 The drop in the "Own work capitalised", as a consequence of the stagnation in investment, determined by the 
current financial and budgetary constraints; 

 The IGRF portfolio appreciation by €23 million as a result of the reversal in the downward trajectory of the 
reference interest rates; 

 The significant increase in other income, in particular the anticipation of gains from the early cancellation of the 
IGRF (€24.5 million). 

 
Due to changes in the accounting treatment of costs associated with the Company’s pension plan arising from the 
actuarial study, operating costs showed a 7% increase. 
 
Table 3 – Operating costs 

 
 
The reinstatement of the Christmas bonus, the increase in compensation for contract terminations and the adoption of 
different accounting criteria for costs associated with the pension plan, in compliance with the Auditors’ 
recommendations, justified the increase in "Staff costs". However, payrolls fell by 1.9%. 

The comparative analysis presented in the following table indicates that, by maintaining the conditions of 2012, staff 
costs would record a reduction of 8%: 

 
Table 4 – Staff costs 

 
 
Expenses with “Supplies and external services" decreased almost 10%, reflecting the cost containment measures 
implemented in the Company. The following factors are worthy of note: 

 The streamlining of cleaning and surveillance services which, as a whole, decreased by 12%; 

Unit: €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

S ta ff cos ts 86 397 818           75 297 790           14,7%

S upplies  and externa l s ervices 31 879 718           35 345 628           -9,8%

C os t of goods  s old and m ateria ls  cons um ed 2 150 462             2 205 404             -2,5%

Other cos ts  and los s es 11 410 347           2 346 812             386,2%

Am ortis a tion and provis ions 27 935 026           27 768 878           0,6%

Increas es /decreas es  in fa ir va lue -                              6 614 748             -100,0%

Los s es  im puted from  s ubs idia ries 1 259 896              837 503               50,4%

Tota l 161 033 267        150 416 763        7,1%

Opera ting cos ts
P er iod

Unit: €uros

2013 2012

Adjus tm ents  for 2013

Other s ta ff cos ts 2 340 265                    -                                     -

C os ts  as s igned to the P ens ion P lan 12 155 529                 -                                     -

R eins ta tem ent of the C hris tm as  Bonus 2 742 532                    -                                     -

S ta ff cos ts 69 159 492                 75 297 790                 -8,2%

Tota l 86 397 818                 75 297 790                 14,7%

S ta ff cos ts
P er iod

Var . %
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 A 22% reduction in the costs with conservation and repairs, which benefited from the decision to perform 
several repair jobs internally, thus maximizing the Company’s existing resources; 

 The 15% decrease in the "Rents and leases" component, caused by the reduction in the interest rates of the 
rolling stock’s lease contracts; 

 The increase in electricity costs is due to an average rise in the unit price of 5.9% during 2013. 

 
Table 5 – Supplies and external services 

 
 
Also worthy of note is the increase in "Other costs and losses" resulting from recording anticipated losses associated 
with the cancellation of derivatives contracts (€ 9.1 million). 

 
The following graph compares the evolution of operating income and costs over the last four years: 
 
Graph 1 – Evolution of Operating Income / Costs 

 
 
The financial results showed a significant improvement as a result of the 50% decrease in financial expenses. The 
following factors contributed to this evolution: 

 Accounting record of expenses associated with the pension plan ("Income ascribed to the actuarial study"), 
which in 2013 amounted to  € 9.9 million in the item "Staff costs"; 

 The drop in the reference interest rates and, in particular, the rates on loans granted by the Treasury; 

 Cancellation of the IGRF contracts. 

  

Unit: €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

E lectricity 8 148 655            7 864 081            3,6%

R ents  and leas es 7 918 025            9 342 423            -15,2%

C ons erva tion and repa ir 4 018 437            5 131 344            -21,7%

C leaning, hygiene and com fort 2 665 399            3 027 963            -12,0%

S urveillance and s ecurity 5 186 241            5 881 152            -11,8%

S pecia lis ed works 1 238 931            1 039 670            19,2%

Other 2 704 030            3 058 995            -11,6%

Tota l 31 879 718         35 345 628         -9,8%

P eriod
S upplies  and ex terna l s ervic es
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Table 6 – Financial results 

 
 
 

1.2. Financial management 
 

1.2.1. Total financing needs 
 
In 2013, cash flows generated by investment activities and public transport service provision grew significantly. This 
evolution benefited from lower operating expenses and, with regard to investment, the increase in transfers from 
PIDDAC (€4.8 million) and the Cohesion Fund (€51.6 million), to finance the Blue line expansion to Reboleira. 

 
Table 7 – Variation in cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
In regard to financing obtained, it must be emphasized the capital increase of €475 million carried by the shareholder, in 
order to enable the early cancellation of IGRF contracts as shown in the following table: 

 
Table 8 – Financing activity 

 
 

Unit: €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

Financia l inves tm ents  24 405               -                            -

Financia l opera tion cos ts (33 649 264)       (50 784 148)       -33,7%

IGR F Financia l cos ts  - opera ting leas e (4 219 365)         (8 570 460)         -50,8%

Incom e a ttributed to actua ria l s tudy -                            (15 761 710)       -100,0%

Tota l (37 844 224)       (75 116 318)       -49,6%

P eriod
Financ ia l res ults

Unit: 10
3
 €uros

2013 2012

Flow of opera ting activities  33 753                      23 973                 

F low of inves tm ent activities  41 556                      13 181                 

F low of financing activities (81 543)                    (12 844)                 

Va r ia tions  in c as h and c as h equiva lents (6 234)                       24 310                  

Cas h and c as h equiva lents  a t the beginning of the yea r  24 420                       111                      

Cas h and c as h equiva lents  a t the end of the yea r  18 186                      24 420                 

P er iod
Cas h flow  s ta tem ent

Unit: 10
3
 €uros

2013 2012

Receivables  from

C apita l increas es  475 429                  -                             

Bank loans  - IGC P /DGTF  412 860                   648 582               

Tota l loans  888 289                   648 582               

P aym ents  rega rding:

Bank loans (274 986)                  (406 391)              

Opera ting leas e trans actions (41 034)                    (35 534)                 

Debenture loans (7 731)                       (7 731)                   

E a rly cancella tion of IGR F (475 429)                  -

Interes t and s im ila r cos ts (145 859)                  (206 084)              

Term  depos its  (es crow) (19 701)                    ( 634)                     

L oans  granted (5 093)                       (5 052)                   

Tota l paym ents (969 833)                  (661 426)              

Cas h flow s  from  financ ing ac tivities (81 544)                    (12 844)                 

P er iod
Financ ing ac tivity
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The capital increase, fully paid in 2013, reflected a change in the shareholder’s financing policy. During the 2014 fiscal 
year, ML’s financing needs, including the debt service on Treasury loans, will be ensured through capital provisions, 
allowing a forecast that the Company will resume positive equity by year end. 

 
 

1.2.2. Balance for the year 
 
In 2013, following line Ministry guidelines, ML recorded in its balance sheet the values of durable infrastructure 
construction (ILD), clearly showing the impact of investment in infrastructure on behalf of the State and the 
corresponding liabilities. 
 
The value of assets amounted to €4,804 million, with the following distribution: 
 
Table 9 – Total assets 

 
 
In 2013, the construction work in Reboleira remained halted, while the remodeling work in Areeiro station continued. 
Consequently, the investment in durable infrastructure kept a downward trend, amounting €4 million. The decrease of 
€50 million in the carrying amount of the corresponding assets derives from the accounting of investment subsidies 
(€56 million) received in 2013. 
 
Total liabilities decreased approximately 10%, totalling €5,268 million. 
 
Table 10 – Total liabilities and equity 

 
 
The decrease of the Company’s liabilities has a greater impact on liabilities linked to durable infrastructure investment 
(ILD). Current liabilities (ILD+ML) increased by 34% as a result of the repayment plan for 2014, which amounted to 
€453 million; 70% of this amount concern Treasury loans, credits that will be converted into capital increases in the 
2014 fiscal year. 
 
On the other hand, the early settlement of IGRF contracts, financed by the State through equity reinforcement, explains 
the significant reduction in the Company’s non-current liabilities, particularly in liabilities assumed by ML linked to ILD 
investment. 
 
  

Unit: 10
6
 €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

Non-current  4 362                    4 414                   -1,2%

C urrent   2                          -                             -

ILD  4 364                    4 414                   -1,1%

Non-current   336                        386                      -13,0%

C urrent   104                        112                      -7,1%

ML   440                        498                      -11,6%

Tota l as s ets  4 804                    4 913                   -2,2%

P eriod
As s ets

Unit: 10
6
 €uros

Var .

2013 2012 %

Non-current  3 601                    4 190                   -14,1%

C urrent   299                        242                      23,8%

ILD  3 900                    4 431                   -12,0%

Non-current  1 132                    1 247                   -9,2%

C urrent   226                        150                      50,9%

ML  1 359                    1 397                   -2,7%

Tota l liabilities  5 258                    5 828                   -9,8%

E quity (454) (915) 50,4%

Tota l liabilities  and equity  4 804                    4 913                   -2,2%

P eriod
L iabilities
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1.2.3. Evolution of remunerated liabilities 
 
As a Reclassified State-Owned Enterprise, ML benefits from Treasury loans to meet its financing needs. This fact has 
allowed the Company to repay its current liabilities through medium and long-term loans (6 to 7 years) with more 
favorable interest rates. 
 
In 2013, the Company repaid debt in the amount of €313 million by taking out Treasury loans in the amount of €412.8 
million. 
 
Overall, remunerated liabilities increased by 2.3% and represent 81% of the Company's total liabilities. 
 
Table 11 – Remunerated liabilities 

 
 
The total amount of loans granted by the State account for 36% of ML’s debt stock. 
 
Graph 2 – Debt structure 

 
 
The loans granted by the Treasury have a significant impact on the average maturity of financing, which stood at 6.5 
years. 
  

Unit: 10
3
 €uros

2013 2012

Debenture loans  1 333 194               1 340 925              (7 731)            

E IB   866 357                   937 859                 (71 503)         

Treas ury loans  1 521 891               1 262 514              259 377        

S hulds chein   500 000                   500 000                 -                      

F inancia l leas es   59 382                     89 810                   (30 428)         

Medium  and long-term  debt  4 280 823               4 131 108                149 715      

100,00% 98,80%

S hort-term  debt -                                  50 000                   (50 000)         

0,00% 1,20%

Tota l  4 280 823               4 181 108                99 715         

Rem unera ted liabilities
P er iod Abs olute 

va r ia tion

EIB
20%

Debenture loans
31%

Shuldschein
12%

Treasury loans
36%

Financial leases
1%
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Graph 3 – Financing maturity 

 
 
The following graph shows the evolution of the implicit interest rate on debt over the past 11 years. As shown, the 
implicit interest rate maintained a downward trend until 2008, when it initiated an accelerated growth linked to 
unfavourable cash flows generated by the IGRF. 

 
In 2012, the growth rate slowed down and, in 2013, there was a sharp decrease in interest costs. The rate level (on 
average 2.4%) on Treasury loans was instrumental in this development. 

 
Graph 4 – Implicit interest rate 

 
 
The Portuguese State underwrites guarantees on loans amounting to €2,585 million. By adding this amount to the loans 
granted by the Treasury, the State underwrote and secured a financing volume of €4,108 million, which represents 96% 
of the Company’s total remunerated liabilities. 
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1.2.4. Rating of Metropolitano de Lisboa 
 
 
Table 12 – ML rating 

 
 
In 2013, Standard & Poor's maintained the (B) rating assigned to ML, ending the year on negative credit watch.  
 
In February 2014, Standard & Poor's revised upwards the Company’s rating to BB, in line with the revision of the 
Portuguese Republic’s rating. 
 
The arguments for this upgrade were: 
 

1. Continued financial support from the State, with the additional factor that most of the Company’s debt is 
guaranteed by the Republic.  

 
2. The support and effort demonstrated by the State, in honouring debt service commitments with funds provided 

for this purpose in the 2014 budget.  
 

3. The “almost certain probability" of ML receiving extraordinary support from the State in case of need. 
 
  

Rating Outlook

07-12-2009  A+  Nega tive 

27-04-2010  A-  Watch nega tive 

29-09-2010  BBB+  Nega tive 

03-12-2010  BBB   Watch nega tive 

04-03-2011  BB   Watch nega tive 

31-03-2011  B  +  Watch nega tive 

30-12-2011  B  -  Watch nega tive 

17-01-2012  C C C  +  Nega tive 

19-12-2012  B   Nega tive 

08-03-2013  B   S table 

05-06-2013  B   Nega tive 

19-09-2013  B   Watch nega tive 

17-01-2014  B   Nega tive 

28-02-2014  BB   Nega tive 

ML  Ra ting
S tanda rd & P oor 's
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2. Prospects for 2014 
 
 
In 2014, considering a moderate recovery in business activity, the process of budgetary consolidation will be 
maintained. 

The ML will continue its activity taking into account the following aspects: 

 Continued development of measures concerning customer loyalty and acquisition, as well as others aimed at 
fraud containment and demand recovery; 

 Fare system simplification; 

 Consolidation of the revision of the model for revenue split among the transport operators, in the Lisbon 
metropolitan area; 

 Simultaneously, continued measures to contain costs, reduce staff and increase efficiency and productivity, in 
order to maintain the positive EBITDA levels; 

 Pooling of the Company’s corporate services, to maximise the use of the available facilities; 

 Measures to improve the financial returns on the Company’s property assets; 

 Submission of proposals with European partners to procure funding for projects on the theme Societal 
Challenges, under the new "EU Framework Programme for Research and Innovation - Horizon 2020". 

 

  



 
 20 

 

3. Proposed application of results 
 
For the purposes of compliance with paragraph e) of no. 2 of article 7 of the By-laws of Metropolitano de Lisboa, E.P.E., 
the Management Board proposes that the losses reported for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, amounting to 
€15,307,839 be fully transferred to retained earnings. 
 
 
 
The Management Board 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Pedro Gonçalo de Brito Aleixo Bogas 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Luís Carlos Antunes Barroso 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr.ª Maria Manuela Bruno de Figueiredo 
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4. Financial statements 
Table 13 – Balance sheets as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 

 

 

 

Unit: €

Notes  2013 2012 Notes 2013 2012

Non-current as s ets

Durable infras tructure inves tm ents 2.1 and 5 4 361 698 549          4 414 234 514         P a id-up capita l 15 1 079 179 039           603 750 000             

Tangible fixed as s ets 6 259 863 291             287 272 796             L ega l res erve   21 597                       21 597                      

Inves tm ent properties 8  428 728                     366 891                    Other res erves  1 501 878                  1 501 878                  

F inancia l holdings  - equity m ethod 9 25 683 810               20 144 909               R eta ined ea rnings (1 539 560 250)        (1 466 173 836)         

Other receivables 13 10 502 602               12 433 723               Other va ria tions  in equi ty 16  19 918 353               22 824 584               

Deriva tives 10 3 271 187                  48 535 668               (438 939 383)         (838 075 777)          

Other financia l a s s ets 11 36 449 583               17 539 253               Net res ult for  the yea r (15 307 839)              (77 332 060)               

4 697 897 750       4 800 527 754      Tota l equity (454 247 222)         (915 407 837)          

Current As s ets

Durable infras tructure inves tm ents 2 041 708                  -                                  

Inventories 12 1 569 041                  1 222 618                 Non-current liabilities

C lients 13 4 342 615                  8 007 952                 Durable infras tructure inves tm ents 2.1 and 5 3 600 774 086          4 189 773 808           

S ta te and other public bodies 21 4 394 694                  4 173 639                 P rovis ions 17 13 212 202                522 537                     

Other receivables 13 18 055 213               18 400 998               Borrowings 18 691 360 435             753 124 597              

Deferra ls 14 57 691 347               55 968 913               Deriva tives 10 210 714 948             230 338 909              

C as h and bank depos its 4 18 186 353               24 420 301               Obliga tions  for pos t-em ploym ent benefits 19 216 987 145             262 739 100              

 106 280 971          112 194 421         Tota l non-current liabilities  in durable infras truc ture inves tm ents 3 600 774 086       4 189 773 808        

Tota l a s s ets  in durable infras truc ture inves tm ents 4 363 740 257       4 414 234 514      Tota l non-current liabilities  linked to opera tion (ML) 1 132 274 729       1 246 725 143        

Tota l a s s ets  linked to opera tion (ML)  440 438 464          498 487 661         4 733 048 815       5 436 498 951        

Tota l As s ets 4 804 178 720       4 912 722 175      Current liabilities

Durable infras tructure inves tm ents 2.1 and 5 298 900 953             241 501 175              

S uppliers 20 1 616 266                  1 444 281                   

S ta te and other public bodies 21 2 597 692                  4 106 305                   

Borrowings 18 176 977 441             102 295 038              

Other payables 23 42 353 773               38 966 622                

Deferra ls 24 2 931 002                  3 317 640                   

Tota l c urrent liabilities  in durable infras truc ture inves tm ents  298 900 953          241 501 175          

Tota l c urrent liabilities  linked to opera tion (ML)  226 476 174          150 129 886          

 525 377 127          391 631 061          

Tota l liabilities  in durable infras truc ture inves tm ents 3 899 675 039       4 431 274 983        

Tota l liabilities  linked to opera tion (ML) 1 358 750 903       1 396 855 029        

Tota l liabilities 5 258 425 942       5 828 130 012        

This  annex is  an integral part of the balance as  at December 31, 2013. Tota l equity and liabilities 4 804 178 720       4 912 722 175        

Tota l non-current liabilities

Tota l c urrent liabilities

Tota l c urrent as s ets

EQUITY AND L IAB IL ITIES

Equity

L iabilities

AS S ETS

Tota l non-current as s ets

The Chief Accountant The Managem ent Board

Dr. C a rlos  E m ério Ferreira  Mota Dr. P edro Gonça lo de Brito Aleixo Bogas Dr. L uís  C arlos  Antunes  Barros o Dr.ª Maria  Manuela  Bruno de Figueiredo
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Table 14 – Income Statement by Nature for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 

 

 
 
 

  

Unit: €

INCOME AND COS TS Notes 2013 2012

S a les  and s ervices  provided 25 81 088 387              81 733 054              

Opera ting s ubs idies 26 45 363 649              46 102 194              

G a ins  / los s es  im puted to s ubs idia ries , a s s ocia tes  and joint ventures 9 (1 259 896)               ( 837 502)                 

Own work capita lis ed 1 945 091                4 464 959                

C os t of goods  s old and m ateria ls  cons um ed 12 (2 150 462)               (2 205 404)               

S upplies  and externa l s ervices 27 (31 879 718)             (35 345 628)             

S ta ff cos ts 28 (86 397 818)             (75 297 790)             

Im pa irm ent of inventories  (los s es  / revers a ls  ) 12 ( 25 000)                    ( 50 000)                    

Im pa irm ent of debt receivables  (los s es  / revers a ls ) 13 -                                  73 712                     

P rovis ions  (increas es  / decreas es ) 17 and 19 2 591 191                11 274 882              

Increas es  / decreas es  in fa ir va lue 10 23 199 397              (6 614 748)               

Other incom e and ga ins 29 29 336 492              4 611 384                

Other cos ts  and los s es 30 (11 410 347)             (2 346 811)               

Incom e before deprec ia tion, financ ing cos ts  and tax es 50 400 965              25 562 301              

C os ts  / revers a ls  of deprecia tion and am ortis a tion 6 and 8 (27 910 026)             (27 718 878)             

Im pa irm ent of depreciable / am ortis able as s ets  (los s es  / revers a ls ) 8  132 970                    38 229                     

Opera ting res ults  (before financ ing cos ts  and tax es ) 22 623 909              (2 118 348)               

Interes t and s im ila r incom e received 31  879 050                   -                                 

Interes t and s im ila r cos ts  borne 31 (38 723 273)             (75 116 318)             

Res ult before tax es (15 220 314)             (77 234 666)             

Incom e tax for the yea r 22 ( 87 525)                    ( 97 394)                    

Net profit / los s  for  the yea r (15 307 839)             (77 332 060)             

The annex is  an integral part of the income s tatements  by nature for the year ended December 31, 2013.

The Chief Accountant The Managem ent Boa rd

Dr. C a rlos  E m ério Ferreira  Mota Dr. P edro G onça lo de B rito Aleixo Bogas

Dr. L uís  C a rlos  Antunes  Ba rros o

Dr.ª Maria  Manuela  B runo de Figueiredo
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Table 1 – Cash Flow Statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 

 

Unit: €

Notes 2013 2012

Opera ting activit ies

Sales of tickets and passes 85 826 671             84 864 044             

Operating subsidies 3.18 47 882 886             46 480 470             

Clients receivables 9 049 365               12 363 933             

Payments to suppliers (30 910 102)           (53 405 680)            

Payments to staff (61 237 094)           (56 247 350)            

Cash genera ted by opera tions 50 611 726       34  055 417       

Tax payments / receivables (9 500 406)              (5 441 903)              

Other payments / receivables from operating activities (7 358 310)              (4 640 590)              

Cash f lows f rom opera ting activit ies 33 753 010       23  972 924       

Investment activities

Receivables f rom:

Tangible fixed assets 1 534 630               -                                

ILD investment activities - Financing subsidies 5 56 447 910             56 357 289             

Interest, dividends and other similar income  223 302                  -                                

Tota l  received 58 205 842       56  357 289       

Payments rela ting to:

Tangible fixed assets (1 909 616)              (2 188 713)              

ILD investment activities - Tangible fixed assets (14 739 745)           (40 987 506)            

Tota l  payments (16 649 361)     (43 176 219)      

Cash f low f rom investment activit ies 41 556 481       13  181 070       

F inancing activit ies

Receivables f rom:

Capital increases 475 429 039           -                                

Bank loans - IGCP / DGTF 18 129 885 756           410 833 969           

ILD investment activities - Bank loans - IGCP / DGTF 5 282 974 244           237 747 877           

Early termination of SWAP contracts – ML 15 422 250             -                                

Tota l  loans 903 711 289     648 581 846     

Payments rela ting to:

Bank loans (76 493 609)           (334 888 539)         

ILD investment activities - Bank loans (198 491 967)         (71 502 576)            

Operating lease transactions (10 610 120)           (12 924 985)            

Finance lease transactions (30 423 708)           (22 608 703)            

ILD investment activities - Debenture loans (7 731 367)              (7 731 367)              

ILD investment activities - Interest and similar costs (91 216 934)           (153 477 168)         

Early termination of SWAP contracts – ILD 5.5 (490 851 289)         -                                

Interest and similar costs (54 642 534)           (52 606 599)            

Term deposits (escrow) (19 700 540)           ( 634 077)                

Loans granted 9 (5 092 660)              (5 052 209)              

Tota l  payments (985 254 728)   (661 426 223)    

Cash f low f rom f inancing activit ies (81 543 439)     (12 844 377)      

Va r ia tions in cash and cash equiva lents (4)=(1)+(2)+(3) (6 233 948)       24  309 617       

Cash and cash equiva lents a t beginning of  per iod 4 24 420 301        110 684           

Cash and cash equiva lents a t end of  per iod 4 18 186 353       24  420 301       

Cash  15 369              24  634             

Bank  deposits 18 170 984       24  395 667       

Cash and cash equiva lents a t end of  per iod 18 186 353       24  420 301       

The Chief  Accountant The Management Boa rd

Dr. Carlos Emério Ferreira Mota Dr. Pedro Gonçalo de Brito Aleixo Bogas

Dr. Luís Carlos Antunes Barroso

Dr.ª Maria Manuela Bruno de Figueiredo

The annex is an integral part of the cash flow statement for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Table 16 – Statement of Variations in Equity for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 

 

Unit: euros

Position as a t Janua ry 1 , 2012 603 750 000          21 597    1 501 878      (1 325 608 309)         25 730 815      (146 052 279)     (840 656 298)       

Va r ia tions within the per iod: -                              

Application of net result for the year ended December 31, 2010 15 -                              -                -                      (146 052 279)            -                         146 052 279      -                              

Recognition of subsidies 16 -                              -                -                      -                                   (2 906 231)       -                            (2 906 231)            

Defined benefits plan - actuarial gains and losses 19 -                              -                -                      5 486 752                  -                         -                            5 486 752             

Cancellation of expenses with financing set-up -                              -                -                      -                                   -                         -                            -                              

Other -                              -                -                      -                                   -                         -                            -                              

603 750 000     21 597 1  501 878  (1  466 173 836)   22 824 584  -                    (838 075 777)  

Net resul t for  the yea r (77 332 060)       (77 332 060)         

Overa l l  resul t (77 332 060)  (77 332 060)    

Position as a t December 31 , 2012 603 750 000     21 597 1  501 878  (1  466 173 836)   22 824 584  (77 332 060)  (915 407 837)  

Position as a t Janua ry 1 , 2012 603 750 000          21 597    1 501 878      (1 466 173 836)         22 824 584      (77 332 060)       (915 407 837)       

Va r ia tions within the per iod:

Application of net result for the year ended December 31, 2012 15 -                              -                -                      (77 332 060)              -                         77 332 060         -                              

Recognition of subsidies 16 -                              -                -                      -                                   (2 906 231)       -                            (2 906 231)            

Capital increases 475 429 039         -                -                      -                                   -                         -                            475 429 039         

Defined benefits plan - actuarial gains and losses 19 -                              -                -                       44 344 250               -                         -                            44 344 250           

Regularisation of the fair value of derivatives and loans interest -                              -                -                      ( 40 398 604)             -                         -                            (40 398 604)         

1  079 179 039  21 597 1  501 878  (1  539 560 250)   19 918 353  -                    (438 939 383)  

Net resul t for  the yea r (15 307 839)       (15 307 839)         

Overa l l  resul t (15 307 839)  (15 307 839)    

Position as a t December 31 , 2012 1 079 179 039  21 597 1  501 878  (1  539 560 250)   19 918 353  (15 307 839)  (454 247 222)  

The annex is an integral part of the statement of variations in equity for the year ended December 31, 2013.

The Chief  Accountant The Management Boa rd

Dr. Carlos Emério Ferreira Mota

Notes Pa id-up capita l

Dr. Luís Carlos Antunes Barroso Dr.ª Maria Manuela Bruno de FigueiredoDr. Pedro Gonçalo de Brito Aleixo Bogas

Lega l  

reserve
Other reserves Reta ined ea rnings

Other va r ia tions 

in equity

Net resul t for  the 

yea r
Tota l  equity
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Notes to the financial statements as at December 31, 2013 
 

 (Amounts expressed in Euros) 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
With the entry into force on June 26, 2009 of the relevant Decree-Law, the Metropolitano de Lisboa, E.P.E. (Corporate 
Public Enterprise) took on its current designation, hereafter referred to as “Company”. 
 
This change is in line with Decree-Law 148-A/2009, DR no. 122, Supplement, Series I of June 26, 2009, by the Ministry 
of Public Works, Transport and Communications, which approves the legal framework for Metropolitano de Lisboa, E.P.E., 
as well as its By-laws, thus revoking Decree-Law 439/78 of December 30. 
 
The previous designation, Metropolitano de Lisboa, E.P., had resulted from the 1975 nationalisation of the limited 
liability Company Metropolitano de Lisboa, S.A.R.L., as per the Decree-Law 280-A/75, of June 5. 
 
The Company’s main purpose is the provision, on an exclusive basis, of public passenger transport services based on the 
use of Lisbon city’s underground and that of its neighbouring municipalities, as well as the maintenance and 
development of the metro’s network. 
 
The Company operates within the legal framework created by general laws governing the existence and the activities of 
corporate public enterprises; by specific laws and by Government regulations concerning the transport sector, as well as 
the Company itself. 
 
The provision of services abides by the fare policy set by the Line Ministries (Ministries of Finance and Economy), 
allowing the Company to benefit from the allocation of official funds, including statutory capital and investment funds, 
compensatory allowances and other subsidies. 
 
These financial statements concern the Company in individual terms and were prepared in harmony with the legal 
framework for approval by the Management Board, the investments having been accounted for under the equity method, 
as stated in Note 9. The Company will present separate financial statements, including those of the companies where it 
holds management control or the majority of shares. Therefore, these individual financial statements were considered in 
equity on December 31, 2013 and net income ending at that date, the effect of consolidation of the equity and results 
of subsidiaries based on the corresponding financial statements, but not the effect of full consolidation of assets, 
liabilities, expenses and income. 
 
The attached financial statements are expressed in Euros and were approved by the Management Board at the meeting 
on May 23, 2014. However, they are subject to approval by the Portuguese State, through the Line Ministries that 
oversee the Company’s activity and hold the statutory capital, as per the specific Portuguese legal framework for public 
companies. 
 
The Company’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended between December 31, 2010 and 2012 have not yet been 
subject to formal approval by the Line Ministry. The Company’s Management Board proceeded with the accounting 
records of the application of results for those years, in harmony with the proposals of the Company’s management 
reports on those fiscal years, considering that such financial statements and proposed application of results will be 
approved without significant changes. 
 
The Management Board considers that these financial statements accurately reflect the Company’s operations, its 
financial position and performance, as well as its cash flows. 
 
 

2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been recorded under the provisions in force in Portugal, as per Decree-Law 
158/2009, of July 13, and in line with the conceptual framework, accounting and financial reporting standards (NCRF) 
and interpretive standards (NI) applicable to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. 
 
 

2.1. Changes in accounting policies and restatements  
 
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, the Management Board decided to recognise all derivative financial 
instruments based on marked-to-market status determined by the financial institutions with which they were traded, 
rather than using the value determined by an independent valuer, as done in the past. 
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The impacts of this change in measurement reported on December 31, 2012, were recorded under "Retained earnings" 
and "Durable Infrastructure Investments" in assets as at December 31, 2013, in the amounts of €137,778,890 (Note 5.7) 
and €40,398,604 (Note 15), respectively, given the Management Board’s conviction that the effect of the restatement 
of the financial statements as at December 31, 2012 would not be materially relevant for comparison purposes. 
 
 

3. MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The main accounting policies used in these financial statements are as follows: 
 
 

3.1. Basis of presentation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the assumption of the ongoing operations and in line with the accrual 
basis of accounting, from the Company’s books and records maintained in accordance with the Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Standards (NCRF). 
 
 

3.2. Durable infrastructure investment activities (ILD) 
 
Over the years, the Company assumed the responsibility of building and renovating durable infrastructures for the 
regular operation of the public passenger transport service, based on the use of Lisbon’s underground and that of its 
neighbouring surroundings. This activity abides by State directives and is primarily funded through grants and loans, 
mainly backed by the State. 
 
Until the 2009 fiscal year, the Company recognised on its balance sheet the assets and liabilities related to the ILD in 
harmony with Decree-Law 196/1980 of June 20, where the Portuguese State undertook to financially and economically 
restructure the Company, namely bearing the burden of ILD investments performed until December 31, 1978. The 
Decree-Law also states that for investments made after January 1, 1979, the State would set the outstanding amounts 
which it would assume, a provision which was never issued. In the 2010 and 2011 fiscal years, the Board decided to 
cancel the assets and liabilities related to ILD, and consequently the Company’s total balance in those years decreased 
significantly. In the 2012 fiscal year, following the Treasury and Finance Secretary of State’s Order no. 1491/12, the 
Board decided to resume the recording of ILD related assets and liabilities in the Company’s balance sheet. 
 
Therefore, all resulting flows from this activity are disclosed in the balance sheet under “Durable infrastructure 
investments”, which include: 
 

In assets: 

 The durable infrastructures (ILD) under public domain built by the Company and over which it has the right of 
access in order to provide “Passenger Transport” services and “Infrastructure management”, including the 
revaluations made in previous years; 

 Materials purchased for ILD construction / repair, recorded in inventories; 

 The subsidies received to co-finance ILD construction, to be deducted from investments in ILD; 

 Financial charges directly incurred by loans to fund the ILD construction and repair activity, namely 
corresponding interest, endorsement fees and stamp duty arising from activity on behalf of the State, which 
were not been capitalised in ILD cost during the construction phase; 

 Derivative financial instruments contracted by the Company to hedge the risk of variations in interest rates on 
loans obtained to finance the ILD activity, which are recognised at fair value under assets where their fair value 
is negative. 

 
It should be noted that the fixed tangible and intangible assets, net of allowances and impairments under the item ILD in 
assets, are not being amortised (Notes 3.3 and 3.4). 
 

In liabilities: 

 The amounts payable to suppliers of ILD construction services; 

 Loans taken out to finance ILD construction and repair activities, particularly those endorsed by the State; 

 Derivative financial instruments contracted by the Company to hedge the risk of variations in interest rates on 
loans obtained to finance the ILD activity, which are recognised at fair value under liabilities, where their fair 
value is positive. 
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Expenditures for maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of these assets are recorded as expenses in 
the period in which they occur, as these arise from infrastructure management activity carried out by the Company. 
 
Under Decree-Law 196/80 of June 20, the Government settled the Portuguese State’s responsibility to finance the 
construction of durable infrastructures carried out by the Company, defining the following types of investments: 
 

 Studies concerning the network development; 

 Galleries, stations and other ancillary or complementary buildings; 

 Railway track; 

 High and low voltage networks; 

 Telecommunications and control systems; 

 Ventilation and pumping; 

 Mechanical accesses. 
 
This commitment was fulfilled by non-refundable subsidies granted by the Portuguese State, for investments carried out 
until December 31, 1980 and for the corresponding finance charges incurred with these investments. At that date, the 
amount of investments made and the value of the subsidies granted coincided and were recorded in assets financed by 
the State and investment reserves, respectively. 
 
The abovementioned Decree-Law contained a clause calling for its revision before its expiry date on December 31, 
1980. However, this revision was never carried out. Hence, and from that date, funds have been allocated based on ad 
hoc legislation incorporated in the Investment Plans of the State-Owned Enterprise Sector, and in the form of share 
capital provisions and generic subsidies for investments and financial restructuring and, as a result, there is no 
correspondence between the investments made and subsidies granted. 
 
As a consequence of the change in the recognition policy during the transition to the Accounting Standards System, the 
Company proceeded to quantify the interest, stamp duty, endorsement fees and financing set-up costs incurred in 
previous years, not borne by the State, recording them under “Durable infrastructure investments”. 
 
 

3.3. Tangible fixed assets 
 

Related to infrastructure management (non-durable infrastructure assets) 
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at acquisition or production cost, which includes the purchasing cost, finance 
expenses and any costs directly attributable to the activities required to place the asset at the location and the 
necessary conditions for it to be operated as intended and, when applicable, the initial cost estimate for dismantling and 
removing the asset and restoring the installation / operation areas, which the Company expects to incur, minus 
accumulated amortisations and accumulated impairment losses (if applicable). 
 
Amortisations are calculated after the goods become available for use, according to the straight line method on a 
monthly basis, in line with the period of estimated useful lives for each class of assets: 
 

 
 
It is the Board’s conviction that, at any given time, the book value of the assets will be realisable either through its sale 
or use, assuming the continuity of operations. 
 
The useful life and amortisation method of the various assets are reviewed annually. The effect of any variations to these 
estimates is recognised prospectively in the income statement.  

Cla ss of Asse ts Yea rs

B uildings  and other constructions 10 - 50

B as ic equipment:

     Rolling s tock in operation 14 - 28

     Rolling s tock at the Company's  service 10 - 30

     Control sys tem and telecommunications  12 - 16

Transport equipment 04 - 5

Tools  and utens ils 04 - 10

Office equipment 07 - 10

Other tangible assets 04 - 10
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Maintenance and repair costs (subsequent expenditure) that are unlikely to generate additional future economic 
benefits are recognised as costs in the period they are incurred. 
 
Major repairs are recorded under “Tangible fixed assets” and depreciated in the same period of years of investment to 
which they relate. 
 
The main spare parts are recognised as tangible fixed assets when expected to be used for more than one period. 
 
The gain (or loss) from the disposal or write-off of a tangible fixed asset is determined as the difference between the 
fair value of the amount received or receivable in the transaction, and the net amount of accumulated amortisation of the 
asset, and it is recognised at the period in which the write-off or sale occurs as “Other income and gains” or “Other 
costs and losses”. 
 

Related to durable infrastructures (ILD) 
Tangible fixed assets related to ILD are recorded under “Durable infrastructure investments” at acquisition or production 
cost, which includes the purchasing cost, finance expenses and any costs directly attributable to the activities required 
to place the asset at the location and the necessary conditions for it to be operated as intended and, when applicable, 
the initial cost estimate for dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the installation / operation areas, in which 
the Company expects to incur. 
 
The record of amortisations related to these assets was determined for the tangible fixed assets related to infrastructure 
management, but only until December 31, 1997. Amortisations calculated and recorded until that date were credited 
directly to cost and charged to the respective revaluation reserves as their corrective factor, which are considered under 
“Durable infrastructure investments”. Nevertheless, in practice, on December 31, 2013 the value of these amortisations 
is part of the value of the asset in the balance sheet. After January 1, 1998, these assets have not been amortised. 
 
Grants obtained for financing the ILD activities are deducted from the value of tangible assets related to durable 
infrastructures. 
 
 

3.4. Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets affected to ILD are recorded under “Durable Infrastructure investments” and mainly include studies for 
the development of the network, and are not currently being amortised. 
 
 

3.5. Leases 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever their terms substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The classification of leases is based on the substance 
rather than the form of the contract. 
 

Leases in which the Company acts as lessor: 
The situations in which the Company acts as lessor concern rental contracts with the tenants of buildings and storey-
flats owned by the Company. 
 
These lease contracts have no defined duration in harmony with the Law on Urban Leases, and were concluded following 
the relocation process conducted by the Company as a consequence of the Metro’s works. 
 
According to its conditions, these contracts are classified as operating leases and the resulting remuneration recognised 
in the income statement for the year to which they relate. 
 
Assets acquired through finance lease contracts, and the corresponding responsibilities, are recorded at the beginning of 
the lease at the lowest of the fair value of assets or the current value of minimum lease payments. Payments of finance 
leases are split between finance charges and reduction of responsibility, in order to obtain a constant interest rate on 
the pending balance of responsibility and asset amortisation. It is calculated as set out in Note 3.3 and recognised in the 
statement of income for the year it refers to. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as costs on a straight-line basis during the lease period. 
 
Contingent rents are recognised as costs for the period in which they are incurred. 
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3.6. Investment properties 
 
Investment properties comprise mainly real estate owned to earn rentals or capital appreciation (or both), and are not 
intended for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for administrative purposes or for sale in the ordinary 
course of business. 
 
Investment properties are measured at cost minus the related accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is calculated after the goods have become available for use, as per the straight line method on a monthly 
basis, and according with the period of estimated useful lives for each class of assets. 
 
The depreciation rates correspond to the following estimated useful lives: 
 

 
 
Costs incurred related to investment property such as maintenance, repairs, insurance and taxes, are recognised as an 
expense in the period to which they relate. Improvements or repairs in investment properties, which are expected to 
generate additional future economic benefits, are capitalized under “Investment properties”. 
 
If, at the reporting date, the recoverable amount of the investment property is lower than their carrying amount, the 
corresponding impairment loss is recognised in the income statement for the corresponding period under “Impairment of 
depreciable / amortisable assets (losses / reversals)”. 
 
The recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is the greater of (i) the fair value minus the selling costs 
and (ii) the value of use. In determining the value of use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted using a 
discount rate that reflects market expectations about the value of money (which, in the Company’s case, were found not 
to exist) and the asset’s specific risks (or the cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted. 
 
Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior fiscal years is recorded when there is evidence that previously 
recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement under “Impairment of depreciable/amortisable assets (losses / reversals)”. The reversal of the 
impairment loss is completed up to the amount that would be recognised (net of depreciation) if the loss had not been 
recorded. 
 
The gain (or loss) from the disposal or write-off of any component of investment property is determined as the 
difference between the amount received in the transaction and the book value of the asset and is recorded on a net 
basis in the income statement as “Other income and gains “or” Other costs and losses“. 
 
 

3.7. Impairment of tangible fixed assets (non-ILD) 
 
At each reporting date, a review of the carrying amounts of the Company’s tangible fixed assets is carried out to 
determine whether there is any indication that they may be impaired. If there is any indicator, the recoverable amount of 
the respective asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated, in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). 
 
The recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is the greater of (i) the fair value minus the selling cost 
and (ii) the value of use. In determining the value of use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted using a 
discount rate that reflects market expectations about the value of money (which, in the Company’s case, were found not 
to exist) and the risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted. 
 
Whenever the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, it is recognised as 
an impairment loss. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement under “Impairment of 
depreciable / amortisable assets (losses / reversals)”, unless such loss offsets a revaluation surplus recorded in equity. In 
the latter case, such loss is treated as a decrease of that revaluation. 
 
Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is evidence that previously recognised 
impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement under “Impairment of depreciable / amortisable assets (losses / reversals)”. The reversal of the impairment 
loss is made up to the amount that would be recognised (net of depreciation) if the impairment loss had not been 
recorded before.  

Cla ss of Assets Yea rs

Buildings  and other constructions 10 - 50
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3.8. Financial investments in subsidiaries, associates and affiliates 
 
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and affiliates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity 
method, financial investments are initially recorded at their acquisition cost and subsequently adjusted for the variations 
in the Company’s share in the net assets of the corresponding entities, after the acquisition. 
 
The results of the Company include its share in the results of these entities. 
 
When there are indications that the asset may be impaired, an evaluation of financial investments is made, where the 
impairment losses that are shown to exist are recorded as costs in the income statement. 
 
When the ratio of the Company in the accumulated losses of the subsidiary, associate or affiliate, exceeds the recorded 
value of the investment, then the investment is reported at nil value, except when the Company has agreed to cover the 
losses of the associate or affiliate, in which case additional losses determine the recognition of liability. If the associate 
or affiliate subsequently reports profits, the Company resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share 
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions with subsidiaries and associates are eliminated in proportion to the Company’s interest 
therein, against the relevant investment item. Unrealised losses are similarly eliminated but only to the extent that the 
loss does not result in a situation in which the transferred asset is impaired. 
 
The remaining financial investments are recorded at purchase cost, which is lower than the market value. 
 
 

3.9. Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The cost of raw materials, subsidiaries and 
consumables are valued at acquisition cost, which does not exceed the respective market value. The inventories of the 
Company as at December 31, 2013 mainly consist of transport tickets, maintenance and cleaning equipment. 
 
The net realisable value represents the estimated selling price minus all estimated costs necessary to complete the 
inventories and to make the sale. In situations where the cost value is higher than the net realisable value, an adjustment 
(impairment loss) is recorded for the respective difference. 
 
Variations of the year in impairment losses of inventories are recorded under results “Impairment of inventories (losses / 
reversals)”.  
 
The inventory costing method adopted by the Company consists of the average cost. 
 
 

3.10. Financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance when the Company becomes party to the corresponding 
contractual provisions using the provisions of NCRF 27 - Financial instruments. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are thus measured according to the following criteria: (i) at cost or amortised cost and (ii) 
at fair value with variations recognised in the income statement. 
 
 

(i.) At cost or amortised cost 
 
Financial assets and liabilities with the following characteristics are measured “at cost or amortised cost”: 

 They are on demand or with a defined maturity; 

 They have an associated fixed or determinable return; and 

 Are not derivative financial instruments or do not incorporate a derivative financial instrument. 

 
Amortised cost is determined using the effective interest method. The effective interest is calculated using the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receivables through the expected life of the financial instrument, in 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability (effective interest rate). 
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Consequently, this category includes the following financial assets and liabilities: 
 

a) Clients and other receivables 
 
The balances of clients and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less any impairment losses. Usually, the 
amortised cost of these financial assets does not differ from its nominal value. 
 
 

b) Cash and bank deposits 
 
The amounts included under “Cash and bank deposits” correspond to cash, bank deposits and term deposits and other 
treasury applications which mature within twelve months. 
 
These assets are measured at amortised cost. Usually, the amortised cost of these financial assets does not differ from 
its nominal value. 
 
 

c) Other financial assets 
 
Other financial assets include bank deposits held as collateral for a loan fulfillment. These assets are recorded at 
amortised cost.  
 
 

d) Suppliers and other payables 
 
The balance for suppliers and other payables are recorded at amortised cost. Normally, the amortised cost of these 
financial liabilities does not differ from its nominal value. 
 
 

e) Financing obtained 
 
Financing obtained is recorded as liabilities at amortised cost. 
 
Any costs incurred in obtaining such financing, including bank charges and stamp duty as well as interest charges and 
similar expenses, are recognised using the effective interest method in the income statement over the financing period. 
Those costs incurred, for the period during which they are not recognised, are recorded as deducted under “Financing 
obtained”. Interests accrued but not yet paid are shown under “Other payables”. 
 
 

(ii.) At fair value with variations recognised in the income statement  
 
All financial assets and liabilities not classified as “at cost or amortised cost” are included in the item “at fair value with 
variations recognised in the income statement.” 
 
Such financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value with variations in fair value recorded in the appropriate 
results under “Increases / decreases in fair value”. 
 
In the case of the Metro, this category only includes the derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting purposes, 
in harmony with the provisions of NCRF 27 - Financial instruments. 
 
 

(iii.) Impairment of financial assets 
 
Financial assets included in the category “at cost or amortised cost” are tested for impairment at each reporting date. 
These financial assets are impaired when there is clear evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition, their estimated future cash flows are affected. 
 
For financial assets measured at cost, the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the best estimate of the asset‘s fair value. 
 
Impairment losses are recorded under “Impairment losses” in the period in which they are determined. 
 
Subsequently, if the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, it must be reversed for results. The reversal should be made up to the 
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amount that would be recognised (amortised cost) if the loss had not been initially registered. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recorded under “Reversals of impairment losses”. 
 
 

(iv.) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Company derecognises financial assets only when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire for charging, or 
when the control of these financial assets is transferred to another entity as well as all significant risks and rewards 
associated with its ownership. 
 
The Company derecognises financial liabilities only when the underlying obligation is settled, cancelled or expired. 
 
According to the description of financial assets and liabilities, these were classified as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
 

3.11. Financial costs on loans obtained 
 
Financial charges related to financing obtained are recognised as costs as they are incurred. 
 
Financial charges on loans obtained directly related to the acquisition and construction of assets, are capitalised as part 
of the asset‘s cost. The capitalisation of these costs begins after the start of the preparation of the asset’s construction 
activities and is interrupted at the beginning of its use; the final construction of the asset or when the asset in question 
is suspended. Any income generated by loans obtained in advance, related to a specific investment, is deducted from 
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 
 
Under Decree-Law 196/80 of June 20, the Government settled the principle that it was the Portuguese State’s 
responsibility to fund the Metro’s ILD. This commitment was carried out through non-refundable grants awarded by the 
Portuguese State for investments up to December 31, 1980 and all finance charges incurred with these investments until 
that date. Under this principle, the Company proceeded to quantify the financial costs incurred since December 31, 
1995, and under “Durable infrastructure investments”, as mentioned in Note 3.2. 
 
 

2012

Deriva tives Cos t or Der iva tives Cos t or

(fa ir  va lue) am ortis ed cos t (fa ir  va lue) am ortis ed cos t

Non-current:

Other receivables 13 - 10 502 602 - 12 433 723

Deriva tives 10 3 271 187 - 48 535 668 -

Other financia l a s s ets 11 - 36 449 583 - 17 539 253

3 271 187 46 952 185 48 535 668 29 972 976

Current:

C lients 13 - 4 342 615 - 8 007 952

C om pany s ubs idia ries 32 - - - -

Advances  to s uppliers - -

Other accounts  receivable 13 - 18 055 213 - 18 400 998

C as h and bank depos its 4 - 18 186 353 - 24 420 301

  0 40 584 181   0 50 829 251

3 271 187 87 536 366 48 535 668 80 802 227

2013

NotesFinanc ia l a s s ets

2012

Deriva tives Cos t or Der iva tives Cos t or

(fa ir  va lue) am ortis ed cos t (fa ir  va lue) am ortis ed cos t

Non-current:

F inancing obta ined 18 - 691 360 435 - 753 124 597

Deriva tives 10 210 714 948 - 230 338 909 -

210 714 948 691 360 435 230 338 909 753 124 597

Current:

S uppliers 20 - 1 616 266 - 1 444 281

Financing obta ined 18 - 176 977 441 - 102 295 038

Other accounts  payable 23 - 42 353 773 - 38 966 622

  0 220 947 480   0 142 705 941

210 714 948 912 307 915 230 338 909 895 830 538

Notes

2013

Financ ia l liabilities
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3.12. Income tax 
 
The Company is subject to Corporate Income Tax at the rate of 23%. 
 
The calculation of the current tax is based on taxable income. Taxable profit differs from accounting income as it 
excludes several expenses and income that are only taxable or deductible in other years, as well as costs and income 
that are not taxable or deductible. In the Company’s case, the current tax corresponds to the autonomous taxation 
payable, mainly originated by costs incurred during the fiscal year with passenger and mix-use vehicles, travel, 
representation or public relations’ expenses. 
 
The Company has not recorded deferred taxes which are not fully quantified to the date. The deferred tax assets would 
correspond to tax losses and non-tax deductible provisions, and deferred tax liabilities would correspond to non-tax 
deductible amortisation of revalued assets, and capital gains tax with deferred taxation. 
 
In the years ranging from December 31, 2008 to 2013, several situations led to the recording of deferred tax assets, in 
the approximate amount of €163,000,000 concerning tax losses and non-tax deductible provisions, which were not 
recognised because there was no reasonable expectation of sufficient future taxable profits to use these deferred tax 
assets. 
 
 

3.13. Government grants (non-ILD) 
 
Government grants are recognised only when there is reasonable certainty that the Company will comply with the 
conditions for being granted such subsidies and that they will be received. 
 
Government grants concerning the acquisition or production of non-current assets are initially recognised in equity 
under “Other variations in equity” and subsequently allocated, on a systematic basis (in proportion to the amortisation 
of the underlying assets), as income for the year during the useful lives of the assets to which they relate. 
 
Other Government grants are, in general, recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to 
balance with spending they are supposed to compensate. Government grants that are intended to compensate for losses 
already incurred or that have no associated future costs are recognised as income in the period in which they become 
receivable. 
 
 

3.14. Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or implicit) arising from a past event and it 
is probable that the settlement of this obligation will require an outflow of resources and the amount of the obligation 
can be reasonably estimated. Provisions are reviewed on each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the best 
estimate at that date. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed when the possibility of an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is not remote. Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial 
statements but are disclosed when it is probable there will be an inflow of future economic resources. 
 
 

3.15. Post-employment benefits 
 

Established benefit plan 
The Company has an established plan for supplemental retirement (old age, disability and survival) paid by Social 
Security. The Company’s liabilities concerning this plan are determined by the method of projected credit unit, the 
respective actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting date, performed according to internationally accepted 
actuarial methods and assumptions, in order to meet the value of the liabilities at the balance sheet date and the 
expenses with pensions to be recorded during the fiscal year. 
 
The liability associated with the guaranteed benefits recognised in the balance sheet, represents the current value of the 
corresponding obligation, adjusted for actuarial gains and losses and the cost of unrecognised past services minus the 
fair value of the plan’s assets. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity in the fiscal year during which they are determined. 
 
The benefits identified by the Company to calculate these liabilities are: 

a) Supplementary retirement, disability and survival pensions; 

b) Pre-pension plans. 
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Health care 
The Company has also committed to certain responsibilities to pay employees, up to retirement age, health care benefits 
which are not recorded in the balance sheet as at December 31, 2013. To meet these responsibilities, the Company 
secured health insurance for its active staff allowing access to medical care subsidised by the Company. These costs are 
recorded in the income statement in the year in which they are paid. 
 
 

3.16. Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Company uses derivative financial instruments for loans taken out to finance activities related to the management of 
infrastructures and ILD affections. 
 
These derivative financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value at the date they are hired. At each reporting 
date they are again measured at fair value, with the corresponding gain or loss from remeasuring recorded immediately 
in the income statement, unless such instruments are designated as hedging instruments. When this is the case, the 
corresponding gain or loss from the remeasurement should be recognised in results when the hedged position affects 
the results. 
 
Derivative financial instruments that do not meet all the requirements of NCRF 27 – Financial Instruments used for 
hedge accounting are considered speculative. 
 
The valuation of these derivative financial instruments at the end of each fiscal year is performed in line with the 
valuation of the banks with which they were contracted, as described in Note 2.1. 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company did not classify any financial derivative instruments as hedge, as a result 
of not complying with the NCRF 27 requirements. 
 
In the case of derivative financial instruments contracted by the Company for the financing activity associated with 
infrastructure management, if the fair value is positive it is recognised as a financial asset under “Derivatives”, and if the 
fair value is negative, it is recognised as a financial liability under “Derivatives”. Variations in fair value of these 
derivative financial instruments are recognised in the income statement in the fiscal year in which they occur under 
“Increases / decreases in fair value”. 
 
In the case of financial instruments contracted by the Company concerning loans to finance the ILD activity, these are 
recognised under “Durable infrastructure investments” in assets or liabilities, depending on whether the fair value at the 
reporting date is negative or positive, respectively, with variations in fair value recognised in these items at each balance 
sheet date, and the effect of variations in fair value is nil in this case. 
 
 

3.17. Balance sheet classification 
 
Assets realisable and liabilities payable more than one year from the balance sheet date are classified as non-current 
assets and liabilities, respectively. 
 
 

3.18. Revenue 
 
Revenue is measure at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised net of the 
amount of returns, discounts and other write-offs and does not include VAT and other taxes paid related to the sale. 
 
Revenue from service provision is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the transaction / service, 
provided that the following conditions have been met: 

 The amount of revenue can be reliably measured; 

 It is probable that future economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; 

 The costs incurred or to be incurred on the transaction can be reliably measured; 

 The stage of completion of the transaction / service can be reliably measured. 

 
Revenue from the provision of services comprises revenue from sales of Metro’s own tickets and a share of revenue from 
sales of multimodal passes valid for the Metro and other urban and suburban transport services provided by other 
operators, where fares are set by the State. 
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The Company records revenue related to the provision of services as follows: 

 Multimodal passes – The revenue from multimodal passes sold by the Company and other transport operators 
is distributed among the operators based on a monthly split determined by the Institute for Mobility and 
Transport (IMT, I.P.). 

This distribution is calculated according to statistical indexes that take into account the level of use of the 
Company’s services and that of each of the other operators. 

 Tickets and pre-paid tickets - The Company records this revenue at the time of ticket sales. 

 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, provided that it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Company and the amount can be reliably measured. 
 
Non-refundable compensatory allowances are allocated by the State to the Company to partially finance its operations, 
in compliance with the public service obligations, recorded under “Operating subsidies” in the fiscal year during which 
they are allocated. 
 
 

3.19. Departmental costs included in ILD 
 
The internal running costs of the various management services not working exclusively for the investment are recorded 
at 10% of the value of current investments. 
 
These costs are recorded under durable infrastructure investments – ILD (assets financed by the State), equipment and 
studies for operating rolling stock and depot and workshops (assets financed by the Company) (Notes 5 and 6), for 
these are the longest term, most technically complex, and hence require a more intensive manpower management. 
 
 

3.20. Transactions and balances in foreign currency 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies (other than the functional currency of the Company) are recorded at the exchange 
rates at each the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary items denominated 
in foreign currency are restated at the exchange rate of that date. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the date of receipt or payment of foreign currency transactions and the resulting 
updates mentioned above, are recorded in the income statement for the period in which they are generated. 
 
 

3.21. Accruals 
 
The Company records its income and costs according to the accrual principle by which income and costs are recognised 
as they are generated, irrespective of the time they were received or paid. The difference between the amounts received 
and paid and the corresponding income and costs are recorded as assets or liabilities. 
 
 

3.22. Critical value judgements and main sources of uncertainty associated with estimates 
 
For the preparation of the appended financial statements, financial reporting judgments and estimates were made, as 
well as various assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of 
income and costs for the period. 
 
The underlying estimates and assumptions were determined by reference to the reporting date, based on the best 
information available at the date of approval of the financial statements of events and transactions in progress, as well 
as the experience of past and / or current events. However, situations may occur in subsequent periods that are not 
foreseeable at the date of approval of the financial statements and, therefore, were not considered in these estimates. 
Variations to the estimates that occur after the date of the financial statements will be adjusted prospectively. For this 
reason and given the degree of uncertainty associated, the actual results of the transactions in question may differ from 
the corresponding estimates. 
 
The main value judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements were as follows: 

a) Useful lives of tangible fixed assets; 

b) Impairment analysis for tangible fixed assets; 

c) Loss on impairment of receivables – these are calculated taking into account the overall risk for the 
collection of accounts receivable; 
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d) Determination of fair value of derivative financial instruments – which as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 was determined by the entity with which they were contracted; 

e) Determination of liabilities for retirement benefits – at the end of each fiscal year, an actuarial 
valuation of pension liabilities prepared by the actuary is carried out. 

 
 

3.23. Subsequent events 
 
Events after the balance sheet date that provide additional information about the existing conditions at the balance date 
(“adjusting events”) are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the balance sheet date that provide 
information about conditions that occurred after the balance date (“non adjusting events”) are disclosed in the financial 
statements, if considered relevant. 
 
 

4. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For statement purposes of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits immediately available 
(three months or less maturity) and cash investments in money market instruments, net of bank overdrafts and other 
short-term financing equivalent. Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 
 

 
 
 

5. Durable infrastructure investments 
 
The balance under “Durable infrastructure investments” results from the activity of infrastructure investments made by 
the Company, and is broken down by asset and liability items as follows: 
 

 
 
The change in net balance of ILD compared to December 31, 2012, is mainly due to the early settlement of 34 SWAP 
contracts, which resulted in the payment of €490,851,289, as described in Note 5.7. 

 

Cas h flow s 2013 2012

C as h  15 369  24 634

Bank depos its  ava ilable on dem and 18 170 984 24 395 667

18 186 353 24 420 301

Notes 2013 2012

Inves tm ent ac tivities  w ith ILD

Non-current as s ets

Tangible fixed as s ets 5.1 3 073 855 435 3 069 719 658

Intangible as s ets 5.2  6 919 091  6 908 225

S ubs idies 5.3 (983 543 839) (927 095 929)

2 097 230 687 2 149 531 954

Other accounts  receivable - S ta te 5.4 2 264 467 862 2 264 702 560

4 361 698 549 4 414 234 514

C urrent as s ets

Other accounts  receivable 5.9  2 041 708    0

 2 041 708    0

Tota l a s s ets 4 363 740 257 4 414 234 514

Non-current liabilities :

P rovis ions 5.4.1  19 729 602  7 675 514

Financing obta ined 5.5 3 135 580 620 3 118 266 680

Deriva tives 5.6  445 463 864 1 063 831 614

3 600 774 086 4 189 773 808

C urrent liabilities :

S uppliers 5.7  2 267 294  7 119 053

Financing obta ined 5.5  265 660 304  206 223 333

Other accounts  payable 5.8  30 973 355  28 158 790

 298 900 953  241 501 175

Tota l liabilities 3 899 675 039 4 431 274 983

Tota l net ILD  464 065 218 (17 040 471)
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5.1. Tangible fixed assets 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, variations in the carrying amount of tangible fixed assets were as 
follows: 
 

 
 
The additions in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 under “Tangible fixed assets in progress – basic equipment” 
in the amount of €1,908,375 refer essentially to the Oriente / Aeroporto undertaking for €768,079, and €855,342 for 
network remodelling works. 
 
The write-offs during the fiscal year 2013 relate primarily to the reduction of advances granted for to the Oriente / 
Aeroporto undertaking, Remodelling of the Network and Areeiro Station, in the amount of €851,822, €693,006 and 
€158,816 respectively. 
 
The transfers occurred during the 2013 fiscal year for the items “Tangible fixed assets – buildings and other 
constructions” and “Tangible fixed assets – basic equipment”, amounting to €15,430,702 and €14,450,443 respectively, 
refer essentially to the transfer from tangible fixed assets in progress of costs related to the Oriente / Aeroporto 
undertaking, as a consequence of the opening of the station during the 2012 fiscal year. 
 
On December 31, 2013, the amount of €99,171,926 recorded in the item “Tangible fixed assets in progress” mainly 
includes €53,431,060 for the Amadora Este / Reboleira expansion project and €5,253,492 for the Oriente / Aeroporto 
undertaking. 
 

 
 
The additions in the year ended December 31, 2012 in the items “Tangible fixed assets in progress - buildings and 
other constructions” and “Tangible fixed assets in progress - basic equipment” in the amount of €26,460,146, refer 
essentially to the undertakings Oriente / Aeroporto for €18,792,432, Alameda / S. Sebastião in €1,587,152 and network 
remodelling for €2,282,516. 
 
The write-offs during the 2012 fiscal year primarily concern the reduction of advances granted for the Oriente / 
Aeroporto and the Alameda / S. Sebastião undertakings in the amounts of €533,127, €404,170 and €128,957, 
respectively. 
 

Decem ber 31, 2013

Gros s  as s ets Initia l ba lance Reva lua tions

Initia l ba lance 

(his tor ic  cos t) Inc reas es

Trans fers  / 

Write-offs Fina l ba lance

Tangible fix ed as s ets  - ILD 3 140 144 000 (199 062 008) 2 941 081 992  5 559 606  26 160 668 2 972 802 266

Land and na tura l res ources  16 098 382 (2 388 442)  13 709 940   216 595    0  13 926 535

Buildings  and other cons tructions 2 692 985 861 (176 310 029) 2 516 675 832  5 194 330  11 727 138 2 533 597 300

Bas ic equipm ent  431 059 757 (20 363 537)  410 696 220   148 681  14 433 530  425 278 431

Tangible fix ed as s ets  in progres s  125 926 855    0  125 926 855  3 126 216 (29 881 145)  99 171 926

Land and na tura l res ources   32 112    0   32 112    0   0   32 112

Buildings  and other cons tructions  102 362 526    0  102 362 526  1 217 841 (15 430 702)  88 149 665

Bas ic equipm ent  23 532 217    0  23 532 217  1 908 375 (14 450 443)  10 990 149

Advance paym ents  for  tangible 

fix ed as s ets
 3 295 531    0  2 710 812    0 ( 829 569)  1 881 243

Tota l gros s  tangible fix ed as s ets  - 

ILD
3 269 366 386 (199 062 008) 3 069 719 658  8 685 822 (4 550 046) 3 073 855 435

Decem ber 31, 2012

Gros s  as s ets Initia l ba lance Reva lua tions

Initia l ba lance 

(his tor ic  cos t) Inc reas es

Trans fers  / 

Write-offs Fina l ba lance

Tangible fix ed as s ets  - ILD 2 949 856 076 (199 062 008) 2 750 794 068  4 238 086  186 049 838 2 941 081 992

Land and na tura l res ources  15 986 399 (2 388 442)  13 597 957    0   111 983  13 709 940

Buildings  and other cons tructions 2 522 676 353 (176 310 029) 2 346 366 324  2 660 695  167 648 813 2 516 675 832

Bas ic equipm ent  411 193 324 (20 363 537)  390 829 787  1 577 391  18 289 042  410 696 220

Tangible fix ed as s ets  in progres s  285 515 682    0  285 515 682  26 460 146 (186 048 974)  125 926 854

Land and na tura l res ources   143 997    0   143 997    97 (111 983)   32 112

Buildings  and other cons tructions  251 305 582    0  251 305 582  18 704 893 (167 647 949)  102 362 526

Bas ic equipm ent  34 066 103    0  34 066 103  7 755 156 (18 289 042)  23 532 217

Advance paym ents  for  tangible 

fix ed as s ets
 3 295 531    0  3 295 531    0 (584 719)  2 710 812

Tota l gros s  tangible fix ed as s ets  - 

ILD
3 238 667 289 (199 062 008) 3 039 605 281  30 698 232 ( 583 855) 3 069 719 658
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Transfers occurred during 2012 for the items “Tangible fixed assets - buildings and other constructions” and “Tangible 
fixed assets - basic equipment”, in the amounts of €167,648,813 and €18,289,042 respectively, refer essentially to the 
transfer of ongoing tangible fixed asset costs linked to the Oriente / Aeroporto undertaking, as a consequence of the 
opening of the station during the 2012 fiscal year. 
 
On December 31, 2012, the amount of €125,926,854 recorded under "Tangible fixed assets in progress", mainly 
includes €52,288,527 for the expansion project of the Amadora Este / Reboleira undertaking and €30,966,357 for the 
Oriente / Aeroporto undertaking. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company paid compensation for damages caused by the network 
expansion works through cash benefits in the amount of €600,281 (€186,791 as at December 31, 2012). 
 
On December 31, 2013 the tangible fixed assets in progress under “Land and natural resources”, “Buildings and other 
constructions” and “Basic equipment”, amounting to €32,112 Euros, €88,149,665 and €10,990,149 respectively, are as 
follows: 
 

 
 
The amounts of (€9,992,729) and (€13,327,414) concern transfers occurring during the year ended December 31, 
2013 to the corresponding tangible fixed assets items. 
 
Cost value of tangible fixed assets (including those in progress) as at December 31, 2013 and 2013, includes the 
following additional expenses: 
 

 
 
 

5.2. Intangible assets 
 
During the years ended 2013 and 2012, the movements in the carrying amount of intangible assets were as follows: 
 

 
 
The amount of €1,198 transferred to the item "Research and development expenditure" concerns risk analysis services 
carried out for the Red line. 
 

2013

Land and 

na tura l 

res ources

Buildings  and 

other 

cons truc tions

Bas ic  

equipm ent

Network rem odelling   0 13 295 128 3 845 868

R ato / E s trela  extens ion   0 1 456 432   0

Am adora  E s te / R eboleira  extens ion   0 52 376 084  861 989

S . S ebas tião / C am polide extens ion   0 3 061 938  389 360

C a is  do S odré Interface   0 13 025 640 1 264 810

Oriente / Aeroporto extens ion - 13 296 274 17 955 536

P rom otion of acces s ibility   0 1 630 898   0

Other  32 112 (9 992 729) (13 327 414)

 32 112 88 149 665 10 990 149

Capita lis ed cos ts Tangible

Tangible in 

progres s Tota l Tangible

Tangible in 

progres s Tota l

Departm enta l expens es 67 585 309 6 086 648 73 671 957 66 480 672 5 539 415 72 020 087

67 585 309 6 086 648 73 671 957 66 480 672 5 539 415 72 020 087

20122013

Dezem ber 31, 2013

Gros s  as s ets Initia l ba lance Inc reas es

Trans fers  / 

Write-offs Fina l ba lance

Intangible as s ets  - ILD

R es ea rch and developm ent expens es  3 151 465       -                        1 198                3 152 663      

S et up expens es  2 019 827       -                      -                           2 019 827      

Intangible as s ets  in progres s  1 736 932         10 867         (1 198)                1 746 601      

Tota l gros s  intangible as s ets  - ILD  6 908 224         10 867         -                           6 919 091      
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The sum of €1,713,976 transferred to the item “Research and development expenditure” pertains mainly to: (i) the 
executive project for Geotechnical and Geological prospection on the Red line in the amount of €558,763; (ii) the Red 
line Oriente / Aeroporto extension project in the amount of €451,370; and (iii) the demand analyses carried out for the 
extension of the Red and Green lines totalling €110,000. 
 
The cost value of intangible assets, as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, includes the amount of €10,867 and €16,458 
respectively, relating to departmental costs capitalised in the asset value. 
 
 

5.3. Subsidies 
 
The movement in subsidies for the year ended December 31, 2013 was as follows: 

 

 
 
The increase in the year ended December 31, 2013 amounting to €56,447,910 mainly refers to subsidies allocated 
under: (i) the Cohesion Fund, as reimbursement for the costs on the S. Sebastião / Alameda extension, in the amount of 
€45,292,616, and the Oriente / Aeroporto extension, in the amount of €4,763,283; (ii) PIDDAC, in the amount of 
€4.807.009 for the Oriente / Aeroporto extension. 
 
 

5.4. Receivables from the State 
 
This item refers to the receivables from the Portuguese State concerning durable infrastructure investment activities, 
broken down as follows: 
 

 
 
 

5.4.1. Provisions for legal proceedings in progress 
 
The amount of €19,729,602 on December 31, 2013 (€7,675,514 on December 31, 2012) includes: (i) the amount of 
€9,219,680 related to the provision recorded for the cases that were brought into the resolution phase as a result of 
investments made; and (ii) the amount of €10,235,631 relating to accrued and unpaid interest, in the months of 
September and December 2013, to the bank with which the two related derivative financial instruments were contracted, 
as a consequence of the decision by the Line Ministry and the Portuguese State to suspend such payments during the 
ongoing case proceedings in a London Court, brought by the bank against the Portuguese State. 

Decem ber 31, 2012

Gros s  as s ets Initia l ba lance Inc reas es

Trans fers  / 

Write-offs Fina l ba lance

Intangible as s ets  - ILD

R es ea rch and developm ent expens es  1 437 156          333               1 713 976         3 151 465      

S et up expens es  2 019 827       - -  2 019 827      

Intangible as s ets  in progres s  3 426 734         24 175         (1 713 976)        1 736 933      

Tota l gros s  intangible as s ets  - ILD  6 883 717         24 508         -                           6 908 225      

Des c r iption Initia l ba lance Inc reas es Dec reas es Fina l ba lance

FE DE R 229.464.397 - - 229.464.397

P IDDAC 169.615.115 4.807.009 - 174.422.124

C ohes ion Fund 323.499.021 51.640.901 - 375.139.922

Other s ubs idies 204.517.396 - - 204.517.396

Tota l s ubs idies 927.095.929 56.447.910 - 983.543.839

Decem ber 31, 2013

Des c r iption Notes 2013 2012

Financia l ins trum ents 5.7 445.463.864 1.063.831.614

P rovis ions  for lega l proceedings  in progres s 5.4.1 19.729.602 7.675.514

Interes t, s ureties  and s tam p duty 5.4.2 1.489.488.945 883.409.981

Is s ue expens es 5.4.2 20.230.150 20.230.150

Initia l ba lance corrected on trans ition to the NC R F 5.4.2 289.555.301 289.555.301

2.264.467.862 2.264.702.560
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Thus, on December 31, 2013, overdue liabilities are reflected in the financial statements under the ILD item, as well as 
the amount of expenses that the Company will incur with these proceedings in case of a favourable outcome, which are 
estimated at December 31, 2013 in the amount of €274,291 and reflected under "Provision for legal proceedings in 
progress." 
 
 

5.4.2. Loan costs 
 
The balance of loan costs refers to expenses incurred by the Company, with loans taken out to finance the durable 
infrastructure investment activity that were not subject to capitalisation in the built ILD. 
 
As mentioned in Note 3.11, the Company quantified the financial costs incurred with ILD that were not capitalised 
therein. However, given the difficulty in quantifying the amount, the Company only reflected the financial costs incurred 
from 1995 onwards, which had previously been recorded under “Retained earnings”, to the item “Durable infrastructure 
investments – Loan costs”, as the Management Board decided to include in this item the amount of €289,555,301 for 
interest and other charges incurred by the Company prior to 1995, against “Retained earnings”, which were used to pay 
off the balance of ILD. On December 31, 2013 and 2012, loans costs were as follows: 
 

 
 
The increase in "Interest, endorsement fee stamp duty and ‘early termination’” in the amount of €606,078,964, includes: 
(i) €115,227,675 for the interest on loans taken out and financial instruments associated with these financings during 
the year 2013; and (ii) €490,851,289 on the expenses incurred with the settlement of financial instruments during the 
2013 fiscal year (Note 5.7). 
 
In addition, on December 31, 2013 and 2012 the cost capitalised under “Intangible assets”, “Tangible fixed assets” and 
“Tangible assets in progress” is detailed as follows: 
 

 
 
 

5.5. Other receivables 
 
The balance of other receivables refers to a contractual penalty corresponding to the debit made to the contractor as a 
consequence of delays in the delivery of the expansion and remodelling works in the Areeiro station. 
 
  

Des c ription 2013 2012 Year va r ia tion

Interes t, s tam p duty s ureties  and ea rly term ina tion 1.489.488.945 883.409.981 606.078.964

Is s ue expens es 20.230.150 20.230.150 -

Initia l ba lance corrected on trans ition to the NC R F 289.555.301 289.555.301 -

Tota l loan cos ts 1.799.274.396 1.193.195.432 606.078.964

Decem ber 31, 2013 Decem ber 31, 2012

Des c ription Intangible Tangible In progres s Tota l Intangible Tangible In progres s Tota l

Loan cos ts 150.125 297.349.532 10.282.040 307.781.697 139.258 297.349.532 9.457.371 306.946.161

150.125 297.349.532 10.282.040 307.781.697 139.258 297.349.532 9.457.371 306.946.161
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5.6. Financing obtained 
 
The breakdown of financing obtained for ILD activities on December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows: 
 

 
 
The debenture loan “Private Placement” was taken out on October 7, 1996 for a period of twenty years, with SWAP/PTE 
for the issuing total final amount. Repayment is made in equal instalments from the tenth year onwards. 
 
The debenture loan “Metro 2019” was taken out on February 4, 2009, for a period of ten years at a fixed rate and with a 
warranty from the State. The applicable law is the Portuguese Law. 
 
The debenture loan “Metro 2027” was contracted in December 7, 2007, for a period of twenty “bullet” years at a fixed 
rate, with a warranty from the State. The applicable law is the Portuguese Law, except for the subscription agreement in 
which the English Law applies. 
 
The issue was admitted to trading on Euronext Lisbon. 
 
In the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company contracted a debenture loan in the amount of €85,000,000 for a 
period of 15 years, with the endorsement of the State, which during the year ended December 31, 2011 was increased 
by €25,000,000. The applicable law is the Portuguese Law. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, given the condition of the financial markets, including the stock market, it 
was not possible to issue long-term bonds, whereby the Company contracted with the Directorate General of Treasury 
and Finance (DGTF) funding in the amount of €613.932,000, of which €507,957,564 are associated with liabilities with 
durable infrastructures (ILD), for a period of 5 years, repayable in 8 equal half yearly instalments, the first of which in 
May 2013. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, given the condition of the financial markets, including the stock market, it 
was not possible to issue long-term bonds, whereby the Company contracted with the DGTF funding in the amount of 
€648,581,846, of which €237,747,877 are associated with liabilities with durable infrastructures (ILD), for a period of 5 
years, repayable in 8 equal half yearly instalments, the first of which in May 2014. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, given the condition of the financial markets, including the stock market, it 
was not possible to issue long-term bonds, whereby the Company contracted with the DGTF funding in the amount of 

Bank  L im it Current Non-current Tota l L im it Current Non-current Tota l

Debenture loans

"P riva te placem ent" Is s ue Merrill L ynch 77.313.674 7.731.367 15.462.735 23.194.102 77.313.674 7.731.367 23.194.102 30.925.469

Metro 2019 Is s ue J P  Morgan 400.000.000 - 400.000.000 400.000.000 400.000.000 - 400.000.000 400.000.000

Metro 2026 Is s ue BNP P 400.000.000 - 400.000.000 400.000.000 400.000.000 - 400.000.000 400.000.000

Metro 2027 Is s ue Ba rclays 400.000.000 - 400.000.000 400.000.000 400.000.000 - 400.000.000 400.000.000

Metro 2025 Is s ue DB I, AG  110.000.000 - 110.000.000 110.000.000 110.000.000 - 110.000.000 110.000.000

7.731.367 1.325.462.735 1.333.194.102 7.731.367 1.333.194.102 1.340.925.469

Bank  loans

ML  A BE I 57.193.405 3.183.611 9.550.832 12.734.443 57.193.405 3.087.708 12.734.442 15.822.150

ML  B BE I - - - -

ML  I/2 BE I 234.435.012 18.000.000 83.579.594 101.579.594 234.435.012 18.000.000 101.579.594 119.579.594

ML  II BE I 74.819.685 4.987.979 24.939.895 29.927.874 74.819.685 4.987.979 29.927.874 34.915.853

ML  III BE I 54.867.769 5.584.000 30.703.084 36.287.084 54.867.769 5.584.000 36.287.084 41.871.084

ML  II/B BE I 99.759.579 6.650.639 39.903.832 46.554.471 99.759.579 6.650.639 46.554.471 53.205.110

ML  II/C BE I 54.867.769 3.657.851 27.433.884 31.091.735 54.867.769 3.657.851 31.091.736 34.749.587

ML  IV BE I 169.591.285 22.400.000 85.104.090 107.504.090 169.591.285 22.400.000 107.504.090 129.904.090

ML  I/3 BE I 124.699.474 7.038.498 108.819.056 115.857.554 124.699.474 7.134.398 115.857.552 122.991.950

ML  I/3B BE I 74.819.685 - 74.819.685 74.819.685 74.819.685 - 74.819.685 74.819.685

ML  V/A BE I 150.000.000 - 150.000.000 150.000.000 150.000.000 - 150.000.000 150.000.000

ML  V/B BE I 80.000.000 - 80.000.000 80.000.000 80.000.000 - 80.000.000 80.000.000

ML  V/C BE I 80.000.000 - 80.000.000 80.000.000 80.000.000 - 80.000.000 80.000.000

E m p. L P  613,9 M E UR DGTF (pa rt) 507.957.564 126.989.390 253.978.782 380.968.172 507.957.564 126.989.391 380.968.173 507.957.564

E m p. L P  648,6 M E UR DGTF (pa rt) 237.747.877 59.436.969 178.310.908 237.747.877 237.747.877 - 237.747.877 237.747.877

E m p. L P  412,9 M E UR DGTF (pa rt) 282.974.244 - 282.974.244 282.974.244 - - - -

257.928.937 1.510.117.885 1.768.046.822 198.491.966 1.485.072.578 1.683.564.544

Other loans  obta ined

S chulds chein ABN AMR O 300.000.000 - 300.000.000 300.000.000 300.000.000 - 300.000.000 300.000.000

- 300.000.000 300.000.000 - 300.000.000 300.000.000

Credit lines

- - -

Tota l loans  obta ined 265.660.304 3.135.580.620 3.401.240.924 206.223.333 3.118.266.680 3.324.490.013

2013 2012
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€412,860,000, of which €282,974,244 are associated with liabilities with durable infrastructures (ILD), for a period of 6 
years, repayable in 12 equal half yearly instalments, the first of which in May 2015. 
 
On December 31, 2013, these loans classified as non-current liabilities, had the following amortisation schedule: 
 

 
 
The share of bank loans and other loans classified as non-current have the following repayment schedule: 
 

 
 
  

Years Am ount

2015 7.731.367

2016 7.731.367

2017 -

2018 and following 1.310.000.001

1.325.462.735

Yea rs Am ount

2015 305.091.310

2016 305.091.310

2017 178.101.919

2018 118.664.950

2019 and following 603.168.396

1.510.117.885
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On December 31, 2013 and 2012, financing obtained with associated covenants, including those that are associated 
with the Portuguese Republic rating or that include custody clauses, are broken down as follows: 
 

 
 
 

5.7. Derivative financial instruments 
 
As stated in Note 3.16, the Company hired interest rate SWAPS with several banks concerning loans affected to ILD. 
According to the Company’s Management Board, although these have not been endorsed by the Portuguese State, they 
were hired under the scope of the durable infrastructure management policy, wherefore they are recorded under 
“Durable infrastructure investments”. 
 
  

Contract

Amount owed on 

31-12-2012 Term Guarantees Pari Passu Custody clause Rating

Cross 

default Other relevant clauses

BE I - ML  A 12.734.442 05-12-2017 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  I/2 101.579.594 15-09-2019 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  II 29.927.874 15-12-2019 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  III 36.287.084 15-06-2020 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  II/B 46.554.471 15-12-2020 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  I/3 115.857.552 15-09-2021 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  I/3B 74.819.685 15-09-2022 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  II/C 31.091.736 15-06-2022 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  IV 107.504.090 15-09-2018 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  V/A 150.000.000 15-12-2020 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  V/B 80.000.000 15-06-2021 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

BE I - ML  V/C 80.000.000 15-06-2022 No No No No Yes
G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic

S chulds chein Loan Agreem ent s igned 

with ABN Am ro Bank, NV on J uly 20, 

2004, s ubject to G erm an L aw and the 

C ourts  of Frankfurt am  Ma in

300.000.000 20-07-2024 Yes Yes No No Yes

G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic / Non-

s ubs tancia l change of 

na ture or object of the 

com pany

Merrill L ynch - P riva te P lacem ent 23.194.102 17-10-2016 No Yes
Los s  of S ta te-Owned 

s ta tus
No Yes

Non-s ubs tancia l change 

of na ture or object of the 

com pany

Metro 2019 Is s ue 400.000.000 2019 No Yes

Los s  of S ta te-Owned 

s ta tus  (S ta te pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

No Yes

G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic / Non-

s ubs tancia l change of 

na ture or object of the 

enterpris e / Traded on 

E uronext L is bon

Metro 2026 Is s ue 400.000.000 2026 No Yes

Los s  of S ta te-Owned 

s ta tus  (S ta te pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

No Yes

G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic / Non-

s ubs tancia l change of 

na ture or object of the 

enterpris e / Traded on 

E uronext L is bon

Metro 2025 Is s ue 110.000.000 2025 No Yes

Los s  of S ta te-Owned 

s ta tus  (S ta te pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

No Yes

G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic / Non-

s ubs tancia l change of 

na ture or object of the 

enterpris e / Traded on 

E uronext L is bon

Metro 2027 Is s ue 400.000.000 2027 No Yes

Los s  of S ta te-Owned 

s ta tus  (S ta te pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

No Yes

G ua rantee of P ortugues e 

R epublic / Non-

s ubs tancia l change of 

na ture or object of the 

enterpris e / Traded on 

E uronext L is bon
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On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the SWAP contracts associated with ILD and their fair value, determined by the banks 
with which they were hired, and the fair value of the financial instruments reported on December 31, 2012, determined 
by an independent entity (Note 2.1), was as follows: 
 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, as stated in Note 2.1., the Company began measuring derivative financial 
instruments in accordance to the "marked-to-market" determined by the counterparty with which they were hired. The 
positive change in the item "Derivatives" allocated to ILD in the amount of €618,367,750 includes: (i) the negative 
effect of the update of the "marked-to-market" on December 31, 2012 in the amount of €137,778,890 based on the 
value determined by the counterparty; and (ii) the positive variation in the amount of €756,146,654 as a result of 
changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments, between fiscal years, and early settlement of several contracts 
as mentioned below. 
 
The impact of this change in the measurement reported on December 31, 2012 was recorded under "Durable 
Infrastructure Investments" as assets on December 31, 2013 in the amount of €137,778,890, given that the 
Management Board considered that the effect of the restatement of financial statements at December 31, 2012 were 
not relevant for comparison purposes. 
 
The methodology used is that of the hiring banks, consisting of projection of updated cash-flows to the present 
moment, using the current zero coupon curve in order to project the Indexing factors payable and receivable by the 
Company, as stated in the contracts taken out with various banks. 
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments have nil impact on the Company’s equity, as the liability is made against 
an account receivable from the State under the ILD item. 

Derivative bank loans

Variation

Fair value (by an 

independent 

body)

Variation (over 

the fair value 

through to 

31/12/2012)

Bank SWAP Initial Final Capital

Inc. Capital 

(BEI)

Total 

associated 

financing 31-12-2013 31-12-2012 31-12-2012

B E I   (ML A) BBVA 02-02-2006 05-12-2005 15-12-2017 (463.502) (864.704) 401.202

B E I   (ML A) M LYNCH 16-07-2010 15-06-2010 15-12-2017 6.878 (6.878)

12.040.717 693.726 12.734.443

B E I   (ML I/2) 1º, 4º, 5º, 7º, 8º DISBURSEMENTS DBI 26-03-2010 15-03-2010 15-09-2019 (18.524.496) 18.524.496 (19.045.304) 520.808

B E I   (ML I/2) 2º, 3º AND 6º DISBURSEMENTS BST 30-03-2006 15-03-2006 15-09-2019 34.915.853 (14.880.443) (22.783.117) 7.902.674 (18.359.146) (4.423.971)

34.915.853 7.805.589 42.721.442

B E I   (ML II) 4º DISBURSEMENT JP MORGAN 12-02-2009 15-06-2008 15-12-2019 (730.004) 730.004 (709.909) (20.095)

B E I   (ML II) 2º AND 3º DISBURSEMENTS BST 31-07-2002 15-03-2003 15-03-2012 - - - - -

B E I   (ML II) 2º AND 3º DISBURSEMENTS RBS 16-01-2009 15-12-2008 15-12-2019 11.971.149 65.958 10.454 55.504 129.744 (119.290)

B E I   (ML II) 1º DISBURSEMENT BNPP 26-11-2008 15-09-2008 15-12-2019 (615.139) 615.139 (588.493) (26.646)

11.971.149 11.971.149

B E I   (ML III) 1º AND 4º DISBURSEMENTS BBVA 02-02-2006 15-12-2005 15-06-2020 (673.433) (1.382.840) 709.407 (1.073.402) (309.438)

B E I   (ML III) 1º AND 4º DISBURSEMENTS M LYNCH 16-07-2010 15-06-2010 15-06-2020 15.130.203 119.508 (119.508) 119.508

B E I   (ML III) 2º AND 3º DISBURSEMENTS BARCLAYS 18-02-2011 15-03-2011 15-06-2020 - (1.540.599) 1.540.599

15.130.203 12.511.051 27.641.254

B E I   (ML II/B) 1º, 2º, 3º, 4º DISBURSEMENTS DBI 11-02-2008 15-12-2007 15-12-2020 - (8.919.619) 8.919.619 (4.973.459) (3.946.160)

B E I   (ML I/3) 1º, 2º, 3º, 4º, 5º DISBURSEMENTS SG 14-09-2010 15-03-2010 15-09-2021 49.351.166 49.351.166 (24.812.540) 24.812.540 (23.197.067) (1.615.473)

B E I   (ML I/3-B) 1º and 2º  DISBURSEMENTS BNPP 19-05-2009 15-03-2009 15-06-2022 - (6.674.285) 6.674.285

B E I   (ML I/3-B) 3º  DISBURSEMENTS BARCLAYS 18-02-2011 15-03-2011 15-06-2022 (6.446.434) 6.446.434 (4.848.956) (1.597.478)

B E I   (ML II/C) 1º AND 2º DISBURSEMENTS BNPP 19-05-2009 15-03-2009 15-06-2022 31.091.736 31.091.736 (17.762.295) 17.762.295 (10.717.358) (7.044.937)

B E I   (ML IV) 1º, 2º, 3º, 4º AND 5º  DISBURSEMENTS BES INV 11-02-2010 15-12-2009 15-09-2018 84.795.643 22.708.447 107.504.090 (7.472.612) (12.131.623) 4.659.011 (9.875.764) (2.255.859)

B E I   (ML V/A) 1º, 2º, 3º AND 4º DISBURSEMENTS DBI 27-04-2009 15-03-2009 15-12-2020 120.000.000 30.000.000 150.000.000 (30.709.539) 30.709.539 (30.629.344) (80.195)

B E I   (ML V/B) 1º, 2º, 3º DISBURSEMENTS BARCLAYS 10-07-2008 15-06-2008 15-06-2021 66.666.667 13.333.333 80.000.000 (19.948.511) 19.948.511 (3.456.422) (16.492.089)

B E I   (ML V/C) 1º DISBURSEMENT BST 26-05-2003 16-06-2003 15-06-2022 (5.609.517) (7.681.359) 2.071.842 (7.558.349) (123.010)

B E I   (ML V/C) 1º DISBURSEMENT BNPP 14-02-2006 15-12-2005 15-06-2022 (958.783) 958.783 3.243.997 (4.202.780)

B E I   (ML V/C) 1º DISBURSEMENT JP MORGAN 31-05-2007 15-12-2006 15-06-2022 1.226.909 (1.226.909) 1.211.722 15.187

B E I   (ML V/C) 2º DISBURSEMENT BNPP 26-11-2008 15-09-2008 15-06-2022 (4.896.798) 4.896.798 (4.092.389) (804.409)

BEI (REEST-INC CAPITAL) TRANCHE A C SUISSE 03-06-2008 15-03-2008 15-06-2022 (32.079.759) 32.079.759 (43.639.184) 11.559.425

BEI (REEST-INC CAPITAL) TRANCHE B BST 31-05-2007 15-03-2007 15-06-2022 (362.740.428) (393.466.458) 30.726.030 (328.218.600) (65.247.858)

BEI (REEST-INC CAPITAL) TRANCHE B JP MORGAN 15-07-2009 15-03-2010 15-06-2022 1.386.511 (1.386.511) 2.319.737 (933.226)

BEI (REEST-INC CAPITAL) TRANCHE B CAIXA BI 16-07-2009 15-03-2010 15-06-2022 44.206.294 429.430 930.000 (500.570) 2.319.737 (1.389.737)

BEI (REEST-INC CAPITAL) TRANCHE C DBI 26-03-2010 15-03-2010 15-06-2022 5.365.088 (5.365.088) (3.155.482) 8.520.570

44.206.294 (176.825.175) (132.618.881)

ABN (SCHULDSCHEIN) TRANCHE A MORGAN STANLEY 08-07-2008 22-07-2010 22-07-2024 (30.751.213) 30.751.213 (29.741.487) (1.009.726)

ABN (SCHULDSCHEIN) TRANCHE A C SUISSE 18-04-2011 22-07-2006 22-07-2024 (3.823.383) 3.823.383 10.206.827 (14.030.210)

ABN (SCHULDSCHEIN) TRANCHE B SG 10-09-2010 22-07-2010 22-07-2024 100.000.000 (50.401.491) 50.401.491 (48.734.952) (1.666.539)

ABN (SCHULDSCHEIN) TRANCHE C BST 25-02-2005 22-07-2005 22-07-2024 - (21.739.690) (30.226.556) 8.486.866 (29.305.648) (920.908)

ABN (SCHULDSCHEIN) TRANCHE C C SUISSE 03-03-2010 22-07-2006 22-07-2024 (6.362.577) 6.362.577 (13.393.372) 7.030.795

100.000.000 100.000.000

MERRILL LYNCH         M LYNCH 16-07-2010 15-04-2010 15-10-2016 23.194.102 23.194.102 (81.791) 1.740.396 (1.822.187) 2.441.775 (701.379)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 BARCLAYS 16-05-2008 04-12-2007 04-12-2026 (22.517.654) 22.517.654 (4.680.152) (17.837.502)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 JP MORGAN 29-11-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 (5.923.252) 5.923.252 (8.137.557) 2.214.305

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 BBVA 15-12-2006 04-12-2006 04-12-2026 70.000.000 (18.831.618) (26.015.365) 7.183.747 (23.084.110) (2.931.255)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 M LYNCH 16-07-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 30.000.000 (5.754.850) (15.782.434) 10.027.584 5.270.862 (21.053.296)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 CGD 16-07-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 30.000.000 (5.754.850) (15.782.434) 10.027.584 5.270.862 (21.053.296)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 C SUISSE 09-08-2011 04-12-2010 04-12-2026 (6.698.228) 6.698.228 (9.340.360) 2.642.132

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 BARCLAYS 17-05-2007 04-12-2006 04-12-2026 (859.236) 859.236 4.878.720 (5.737.956)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 JP MORGAN 06-07-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 (109.762.952) 109.762.952 (156.215.611) 46.452.659

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 JP MORGAN 29-11-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 (1.597.521) 1.597.521 (3.380.446) 1.782.925

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 BARCLAYS 15-05-2009 04-03-2009 04-12-2026 (61.234.884) 61.234.884 (63.726.402) 2.491.518

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 CAIXA BI 28-04-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 100.000.000 22.195.656 14.731.366 7.464.290 21.392.307 (6.660.941)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 DBI 26-03-2010 04-12-2009 04-12-2026 (5.747.585) 5.747.585 13.826.290 (19.573.875)

DEBENTURE LOAN 2026 DBI 27-07-2009 04-12-2008 04-12-2026 (40.226.000) 40.226.000 (43.785.452) 3.559.452

230.000.000 230.000.000

DEBENTURE LOAN  2027 BARCLAYS 20-12-2007 07-12-2007 07-12-2022 (48.566.436) 48.566.436 (23.026.330) (25.540.106)

DEBENTURE LOAN  2027 JP MORGAN 07-12-2007 07-12-2007 07-12-2027 (40.507.284) 40.507.284 (57.586.032) 17.078.748

DEBENTURE LOAN  2027 BNPP 28-04-2010 07-12-2009 07-12-2027 1.481.554 (1.481.554) 9.914.102 (8.432.548)

DEBENTURE LOAN   2019 BARCLAYS 28-01-2009 04-02-2009 04-02-2019 79.112.808 (79.112.808) 63.929.887 15.182.921

DEBENTURE LOAN   2019 CITIBANK 15-01-2010 04-02-2010 04-02-2019 100.000.000 (24.152.174) (28.756.751) 4.604.577 (27.243.001) (1.513.750)

DEBENTURE LOAN   2019 GSI 11-03-2011 04-08-2012 04-02-2019 (53.283.358) 53.283.358 (51.351.417) (1.931.941)

100.000.000 100.000.000

DEBENTURE LOAN   2030 BARCLAYS 30-12-2010 30-12-2010 30-12-2030 (98.181.364) 98.181.364 (94.339.693) (3.841.671)

874.012.364 - 833.590.501 (445.463.864) (1.201.610.504) 756.146.640 (1.063.831.614) (137.778.890)

(762.649) (95.177)

Date Capital covered 31-12-2012 Fair value

Fair value ("JV") 

(Counterpart)

Name
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company settled 34 SWAP contracts having paid the sum of 
€490,851,289, with a "marked-to-market" on the settlement date determined by the counterparty with which they were 
contracted amounting to €671,686,152. 
 
The detail of the settled SWAP contracts is as follows: 
 

 
 
 

5.8. Suppliers  
 
The item “Suppliers” comprises mainly current liabilities arising in connection with works carried out for the expansion 
and modernisation / remodelling of the network. 
 
 

5.9. Other payables 
 
The balance in “Other payables” is composed mainly by expenses with loan interests, interest rate derivatives and 
sureties payable during the 2014 fiscal year. Additionally, on December 31, 2013, this item includes €122,526 related 
to ILD investment costs which, to date, had not yet been billed by Ferconsult. 
 
  

Bas e financ ing Order Bank Type of ins trum ent Matur ity

Notiona l 

(or igina l)

Cancella tion 

da te

Net am ount 

pa id

P res ent va lue

Counterpa rt Va r ia tion

BE I ML  I/3 548/13-S E T S ociété Genera le Vanilla  s wap 15-09-21 95.602.930 20-03-2013 (21.900.000) (24.812.540) (2.912.540)

BE I ML  I/3 548/13-S E T S ociété Genera le Vanilla  s wap 22-07-24 100.000.000 20-03-2013 (38.960.000) (50.401.491) (11.441.491)

ABN1 549/13-S E T Morgan S tanley C MS  S teepener 22-07-24 100.000.000 21-03-2013 (23.000.000) (30.751.213) (7.751.213)

BE I R E E S TR UT - IC 660/13-S E T C rédit S uis s e Wors t of 2 S preads 15-06-22 17.364.188 08-04-2013 (21.400.000) (40.883.076) (19.483.076)

660/13-S E T C rédit S uis s e Floors , Overlay 22-07-24 100.000.000 08-04-2013 (7.300.000) 10.897.948 18.197.948

660/13-S E T C rédit S uis s e S pread Option, Overlay 22-07-24 100.000.000 08-04-2013 (9.800.000) (12.318.660) (2.518.660)

OBR IG  2026-5 660/13-S E T C rédit S uis s e

Index linked + Infla tion Floor + 

(E UR 10Y- E UR 2Y) D igita l + (E UR  

20Y ia  -E UR  10Y ia) L everaged 

04-12-26 70.000.000 08-04-2013 (7.900.000) (6.982.720) 917.280

879/13-S E T Barclays Vanilla , Overlay 15-06-22 77.895.605 07-05-2013 (4.832.919) (6.098.999) (1.266.080)

BE I ML  V/B 879/13-S E T Barclays Index linked 15-06-21 80.000.000 07-05-2013 (16.188.865) (19.318.887) (3.130.022)

OBR IG  2026-1 879/13-S E T Barclays Index linked 04-12-26 100.000.000 07-05-2013 (16.450.389) (22.722.434) (6.272.045)

OBR IG  2026-6 879/13-S E T Barclays C ap Knock Out 04-12-26 200.000.000 07-05-2013 (1.334.193) (1.742.306) (408.113)

OBR IG  2026-7 879/13-S E T Barclays Index linked 04-12-26 100.000.000 07-05-2013 (50.229.558) (60.610.697) (10.381.139)

OBR IG  2027-1 879/13-S E T Barclays Index linked 07-12-22 200.000.000 07-05-2013 (36.398.650) (48.840.456) (12.441.806)

OBR IG  2019 879/13-S E T Barclays Vanilla 04-02-19 400.000.000 07-05-2013 65.078.000 59.796.768 (5.281.232)

OBR IG  2030 879/13-S E T Barclays Vanilla 30-12-30 300.000.000 07-05-2013 (84.149.925) (94.973.821) (10.823.896)

BE I ML  II/C  1º e 2º 966/13-S E T BNP  P a ribas Index linked 15-06-22 86.790.834 16-05-2013 (10.140.000) (16.471.820) (6.331.820)

966/13-S E T BNP  P a ribas S nowba ll, Overlay 15-06-22 40.000.000 16-05-2013 (780.000) (1.103.064) (323.064)

BE I ML  II 1º 966/13-S E T BNP  P a ribas C a llable S wap 15-12-19 11.472.352 16-05-2013 (390.000) (553.696) (163.696)

BE I ML  V/C  2º 966/13-S E T BNP  P a ribas C a llable S wap 15-06-22 40.000.000 16-05-2013 (3.055.000) (4.558.493) (1.503.493)

OBR IG  2027-3 966/13-S E T BNP  P a ribas Vanilla 07-12-27 100.000.000 16-05-2013 585.000 1.108.690 523.690

1007/13-S E T Goldm an S achs Floor, Overlay 04-02-19 300.000.000 20-05-2013 (26.999.828) (47.492.424) (20.492.596)

BE I ML  II 4º 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan Vanilla  S wap 15-12-19 21.947.108 13-06-2013 (435.007) (630.458) (195.451)

1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan Vanilla 15-06-22 40.000.000 13-06-2013 850.721 1.222.515 371.794

1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan S nowba ll, Overlay 15-06-22 12.545.916 13-06-2013 931.613 1.342.312 410.699

OBR IG  2026-2 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan Vanilla  + S hort C ap. 04-12-26 100.000.000 13-06-2013 (4.966.196) (6.558.103) (1.591.907)

OBR IG  2026-6A 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan R ange Accrua l GBP 10y- J P Y6m 04-12-26 170.000.000 13-06-2013 (72.985.315) (99.503.117) (26.517.802)

OBR IG  2026-6B 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan KO S wap, Overlay 04-12-26 30.000.000 13-06-2013 (1.180.408) (1.639.317) (458.909)

OBR IG  2027-2 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan Index L inked 07-12-27 100.000.000 13-06-2013 (28.439.707) (43.018.822) (14.579.115)

BE I ML  I/2 - 1º,4º,5º,7º e 8º 1234/13-S E T Deuts che Index L inked 15-09-19 93.192.074 28-06-2013 (10.621.473) (16.793.772) (6.172.299)

BE I  ML  II/B  1234/13-S E T Deuts che Invers e Flooter E ur 10-2 15-12-20 86.458.302 28-06-2013 (3.093.298) (4.994.948) (1.901.650)

BE I ML  V/A  1234/13-S E T Deuts che C onvertible S wap 15-12-20 150.000.000 28-06-2013 (19.719.623) (30.436.427) (10.716.804)

 1234/13-S E T Deuts che S nowba ll 15-06-22 25.091.832 28-06-2013 (4.162.465) (5.325.071) (1.162.606)

 1234/13-S E T Deuts che Infla tion L inked, overlay 04-12-26 70.000.000 28-06-2013 (5.041.073) (5.859.731) (818.658)

OBR IG  2026-5A  1234/13-S E T Deuts che Index L inked 04-12-26 70.000.000 28-06-2013 (26.442.728) (40.657.824) (14.215.096)

(490.851.289) (671.686.152) (180.834.863)
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6. Tangible fixes assets 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, variations in the carrying amount of the Company’s tangible fixed 
assets, as well as the corresponding accumulated amortisations and impairment losses, were as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
The increase of €641,895 in the item “Basic Equipment” in the year ended December 31, 2012, is mainly due to the 
purchase of traction transformers in the amount of €310,764 and the development of the telephone network, in the 
amount of €233,661. 
 
Transfers during the 2012 fiscal year to the item “Basic equipment” and “Office equipment” in the amounts of €635,566 
and €2,179,814, refer to the purchase of TETRA mobile and portable radios for rolling stock, enabling private 
communications within the Integrated System of Portugal’s Emergency and Security Networks (SIRESP) and the 
Resource Optimal Planning and Real-Time Operation Management System (PLAGO). 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company capitalised financial expenses related to loans 
taken out to finance assets under construction and departmental expenses, as follows: 
 

 
 
Amortisations amounting to €27,838,892 (€27,647,744 in 2012) were recorded under “Costs / reversals of depreciation 
and amortisation” in the income statement. 
 
  

L and and 

na tura l 

res ources

Buildings  and 

other 

cons truc tions

Bas ic  

equipm ent

Trans port 

equipm ent

Offic e 

equipm ent

Other tangible 

fix ed as s ets

Tangible fix ed 

as s ets  in 

progres s Tota l

As s ets :

Initia l ba lance 24.287.679 251.253.540 498.781.147 612.354 28.258.400 25.321.737 2.976.076 831.490.932

P urchas es - 10.786 30.633 17.280 131.653 (75.790) 322.731 437.293

S a les - - (11.164) (54.923) - - - (66.086)

Trans fers - - - - - - - -

Write-offs - - (6.439) - (935.708) (7.711) - (949.858)

Fina l ba lance 24.287.679 251.264.326 498.794.178 574.711 27.454.344 25.238.237 3.298.807 830.912.282

Accum ula ted am ortis a tion and im pa irm ent los s es :

Initia l ba lance - 170.366.788 337.927.426 527.632 25.146.462 10.249.830 - 544.218.137

Am ortis a tion during the yea r - 10.810.217 14.785.270 44.388 1.304.720 894.297 - 27.838.892

S a les - - (8.449) (50.686) - - - (59.135)

Write-offs - - (5.903) - (935.546) (7.453) - (948.902)

Fina l ba lance - 181.177.005 352.698.344 521.334 25.515.635 11.136.675 - 571.048.991

Net as s ets 24.287.679 70.087.321 146.095.834 53.377 1.938.709 14.101.562 3.298.807 259.863.291

2013

Land and 

na tura l 

res ources

Buildings  and 

other 

cons truc tions

Bas ic  

equipm ent

Trans port 

equipm ent

Offic e 

equipm ent

Other tangible 

fix ed as s ets

Tangible fix ed 

as s ets  in 

progres s Tota l

As s ets :

Initia l ba lance 24.287.679 251.251.764 497.505.520 1.236.442 26.205.594 24.829.596 5.892.580 831.209.175

P urchas es - 1.776 641.895 13.980 214.681 494.051 694.456 2.060.839

S a les - - (813) (638.069) (4.779) - - (643.661)

Trans fers - - 635.566 - 2.179.814 - (3.610.960) (795.580)

Write-offs - - (1.021) - (336.909) (1.910) - (339.840)

Fina l ba lance 24.287.679 251.253.540 498.781.147 612.353 28.258.401 25.321.737 2.976.076 831.490.933

Accum ula ted am ortis a tion and im pa irm ent los s es :

Initia l ba lance - 159.550.362 322.595.264 1.080.388 24.937.809 9.370.576 - 517.534.399

Am ortis a tion during the yea r - 10.816.426 15.333.887 68.157 548.319 880.955 - 27.647.744

S a les - - (813) (620.914) (3.228) - (624.955)

Write-offs - - (912) - (336.439) (1.700) - (339.051)

Fina l ba lance - 170.366.788 337.927.426 527.631 25.146.461 10.249.831 - 544.218.137

Net as s ets 24.287.679 80.886.752 160.853.721 84.722 3.111.940 15.071.906 2.976.076 287.272.796

2012

Capita lis ed cos ts 2013 2012

Loan C os ts 404 10.928

404 10.928
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7. Leases 
 

Finance leases 
As mentioned in Note 3.5, the Company records in its tangible assets (Note 6), assets acquired under finance lease. On 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company is the lessee in finance lease contracts related primarily to the purchase of 
55 triple traction units and one passenger vehicle, recorded under “Tangible fixed assets – basic equipment” and 
“Tangible fixed assets – transport equipment”, respectively. 
 
Assets held under finance leases for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 
 

 
 
Rents from finance lease of the triple traction units bear interest at annual rates ranging between -3.3501% and 
3.2522%. 
 
The outstanding finance leases as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 have the following detail: 
 

 
 
 

Operating leases 
On December 31, 2013, the Company has responsibilities with ten operating lease contracts with TREM, A.C.E. and 
TREM II, A.C.E. (Note 9) not recognised in the appended balance sheet (Note 3.5) in the amount of €227,340,947 (Note 
17). 
 
The minimum lease payments of operating leases in 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 
 

 
 
  

2012

Finance leas es  - Equipm ent Gros s  am ount

Accum ula ted 

am ortis a tion Net am ount Net am ount

Bas ic equipm ent 305.858.686 178.525.988 127.332.698 138.256.306

Trans port equipm ent 77.399 72.941 4.458 40.077

305.936.085 178.598.929 127.337.156 138.296.383

2013

Capita l ow ed (Note 18)

Finance leas es 2013 2012

Up to 1 yea r 9.024.101 26.999.992

Between 1 and 5 yea rs 42.731.314 47.534.578

More than 5 yea rs 7.630.671 15.275.224

59.386.086 89.809.794

Minim um  paym ents

2013 2012

Up to 1 yea r 7.179.113 7.220.379

Between 1 and 5 yea rs 31.654.789 59.265.912

More than 5 yea rs 188.507.045 168.923.935

227.340.947 235.410.226

Opera ting leas es
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8. Investment properties 
 
The changes in “investment properties” as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
The investment properties held by the Company consist of 35 buildings in the Lisbon metropolitan area, for relocation of 
low-income families affected by the network expansion programme, and which are being amortised over a period of 50 
years. 
 
The fair value of the investment properties was determined by the difference between the expected cash flows from 
rents on lease contracts, as described in Note 3.6, and the estimated costs (including the Property Tax and condominium 
and maintenance expenses) until the contracts’ expiry date. On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the following income and 
costs associated with investment property were recorded: 
 

 
 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013 the Company derecognised the previously recognised impairment losses 
amounting to €132,970, which was recorded under “Impairment of depreciable / amortisable assets (losses / reversals)”, 
in the income statement. 
 
The amortisation for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, in the amount of €71,134, were recorded under 
“Costs / reversals of depreciation and amortisation”. 
 
  

Gros s  

am ount

Accum ula ted 

am ortis a tion

Accum ula ted 

im pa irm ent 

los s es Net am ount Fa ir  va lue

P roperty rented to third pa rties 3.555.595 1.353.869 1.772.999 428.728 428.728

3.555.595 1.353.869 1.772.999 428.728 428.728

Decem ber 31, 2013

Gros s  

am ount

Accum ula ted 

am ortis a tion

Accum ula ted 

im pa irm ent 

los s es Net am ount Fa ir  va lue

P roperty rented to third pa rties 3.555.595 1.282.735 1.905.969 366.892 366.891

3.555.595 1.282.735 1.905.969 366.892 366.891

Decem ber 31, 2012

Decem ber 31, 2013

Incom e from  

rents  

(Note 29) Direc t cos ts

Am ortis a tion 

dur ing the 

yea r Incom e

P roperty rented to third pa rties 22.925 14.426 71.134  (62.635)

22.925 14.426 71.134  (62.635)

Incom e from  

rents  

(Note 29) Direc t cos ts

Am ortis a tion 

dur ing the 

fis c a l yea r Incom e

P roperty rented to third pa rties 24.726 20.862 71.134  (67.270)

24.726 20.862 71.134  (67.270)

Decem ber 31, 2012
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9. Financial investments 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company held the following investments in subsidiaries, associates and other 
companies: 
 

 
 

 
 
The investment held by the Company in the subsidiary Ferconsult, S.A. on December 31, 2013 is recorded by the equity 
method, having the latter reported gains in 2013 in the amount of €121,488, recognised in the income statement under 
“Gains / losses charged to subsidiaries, associates and affiliates”. 
 
The investment held by the Company in GIL - Gare Intermodal de Lisboa, S.A. is recorded at nil and, in the 2013 fiscal 
year, the Company recognised in the income statement a provision of €1,816.143 regarding its share in the accumulated 
losses recorded by this affiliate for this and the previous fiscal years. 
 
In addition, during the 2013 fiscal year, the Company granted loans to GIL – Gare Intermodal de Lisboa, S.A., in the 
amount of €5,092,660 and, on December 31, 2013, the total grants to this affiliate amount to €19,143,134. The 
Company did not recognise any impairment losses regarding this amount, as the Management Board believes that it will 
be realised in the future. 
 
  

Head Offic e % held As s ets L iabilities Equity Tota l incom e Net res ult

P roportion in 

the res ult

Am ount 

recorded S ha re held

S ubs idia r ies :

Fercons ult, S .A. L is boa 100,00% 10.698.003 6.206.904 4.491.099 6.687.002 121.488 121.488 121.488 4.491.099 b)

Metrocom , S .A. L is boa 100,00% 2.830.322 960.986 1.869.337 2.570.108 337.702 337.702 337.702 1.869.337 b)

As s oc ia ted com panies : -

P ublim etro - P ublicidade em  Meios  de Trans porte e Outros , S .A. L is boa 40,00% 2.884.907 2.887.671 (2.764) 1.842.904 103 41 41

E ns itrans  - E ngenha ria  e S is tem as  de Trans porte, A.E .I.E . L is boa 5,00% 5.159.755 5.150.377 9.378 7.278.533 9.378 469 469 469

Tota l inves tm ents  in s ubs idia r ies  and as s oc ia ted com panies 6.360.905

Inves tm ents  in other com panies :

E del - E m pres a  E ditoria l, L da L is boa c) c) c) c) c) c) c) c) 20 a)

G IL  - Ga re Interm oda l de L is boa , S .A. L is boa 16,00% 75.805.511 87.156.402 (11.350.891) 4.865.888 60.265 9.642 9.642 -

G IL  - Ga re Interm oda l de L is boa , S .A. - loans  (Nota  32) L is boa n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 19.143.134

Otlis , A.C .E . L is boa 14,29% 2.683.601 1.425.289 1.258.312 4.541.006 678.480 96.921 96.921 179.750

TR E M, A.C .E . L is boa 0,01% 4.782.878 69.992.068 (11.950.510) d) 2.547.293 (1.248.268) d) (112) (112) - b)

TR E M II, A.C .E . L is boa 0,01% 22.209.014 157.642.186 (23.234.592) d) 5.024.680 (2.970.283) d) (267) (267) - b)

Tota l inves tm ents  in other com panies 19.322.904

Tota l 25.683.810

a) Financia l inform ation not audited as  a t  Decem ber 31, 2012.

b) C ons olida tion of the entities  by com prehens ive m ethod in the C om pany's  cons olida ted financia l s ta tem ents .

c) Inform ation not ava ilable .

d) Am ounts  corrected with the adjus tm ents  to be cons idered in the prepa ra tion of the C om pany's  cons olida ted financia l s ta tem ents .

2013

Head Offic e % held As s ets L iabilities Equity Tota l incom e Net res ult

P roportion in 

the res ult

Am ount 

recorded S ha re held

S ubs idia r ies :

Fercons ult, S .A. L is boa 100,00% 13.746.786 10.337.175 3.409.610 4.986.425 (1.203.124) (1.203.124) (1.203.124) 3.409.610 b)

Fercons ult, S .A. - loans  (Note 32) L is boa n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 1.031.836

Metrocom , S .A. L is boa 100,00% 2.480.910 949.275 1.531.635 2.944.824 443.758 443.758 443.758 1.531.635 b)

As s oc ia ted com panies :

P ublim etro - P ublicidade em  Meios  de Trans porte e Outros , S .A. L is boa 40,00% 4.145.816 4.148.684 (2.868) 1.614.964 - - (1.147)

E ns itrans  - E ngenha ria  e S is tem as  de Trans porte, A.E .I.E . L is boa 5,00% 3.845.496 3.560.790 284.707 5.622.283 284.707 14.235 14.235 14.235

Tota l inves tm ents  in s ubs idia r ies  and as s oc ia ted com panies 5.986.169

Inves tm ents  in other com panies :

E del - E m pres a  E ditoria l, L da L is boa c) c) c) c) c) c) c) c) 20 a)

G IL  - Ga re Interm oda l de L is boa , S .A. L is boa 0 75.923.772 86.963.811 (11.040.038) 4.743.005 (583.802) (93.408) 312.346

G IL  - Ga re Interm oda l de L is boa , S .A. - loans  (Nota  32) L is boa n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 14.050.474

Otlis , A.C .E . L is boa 0 2.292.320 1.534.599 757.721 2.911.556 277.889 39.710 108.246 108.246

TR E M, A.C .E . L is boa 0 8.770.789 72.731.710 (10.702.242) d) 3.052.086 (1.250.205) d) (113) - - b)

TR E M II, A.C .E . L is boa 0 39.607.401 163.070.291 (20.264.309) d) 6.145.276 (2.976.660) d) (268) - - b)

Tota l inves tm ents  in other com panies 14.158.740

Tota l 20.144.909

a) Financia l inform ation not audited as  a t  Decem ber 31, 2012.

b) C ons olida tion of the entities  by com prehens ive m ethod in the C om pany's  cons olida ted financia l s ta tem ents .

c) Inform ation not ava ilable .

d) Am ounts  corrected with the adjus tm ents  to be cons idered in the prepa ra tion of the C om pany's  cons olida ted financia l s ta tem ents .

2012
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Changes in financial investments held by the Company during the 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
 

10.  Derivatives 
 
The balance of the item “Derivatives” on December 31, 2013 and 2012 corresponds to the fair value of the SWAP 
contracts, as determined by the contracted banks, and has the following detail:  
 

 
  

Equity method Cost Tota l

Financia l  investments

Initia l  ba lance 4.750.253 15.394.656 20.144.909

Application of the equity method 556.580  - 556.580

Dividends  (39.655)  -  (39.655)

Other variations in equity - subsidies  -  -  -

Loan increases - GIL  - 5.092.660 5.092.660

Other variations  (70.684)  -  (70.684)

Fina l  ba lance 5.196.494 20.487.316 25.683.810

Impa irment losses

Initia l  ba lance  (313.493)  (313.493)

Reclassif ied to the "Provisions" item 313.493  - 313.493

Fina l  ba lance  -  -  -

Net assets 5 .196 .494 20 .487 .316 25 .683 .810

2013

Equity m ethod Cos t Tota l

Financ ia l inves tm ents

Initia l ba lance 5.964.428 10.284.311 16.248.739

Applica tion of the equity m ethod  (705.421)  -  (705.421)

Dividends  (63.581)  -  (63.581)

Other va ria tions  in equity - s ubs idies  (131.633)  -  (131.633)

Loan increas es  - G IL  - 5.052.207 5.052.207

Loan increas es  - Fercons ult  - 58.138 58.138

Other va ria tions  (47)  -  (47)

Fina l ba lance 5.063.746 15.394.656 20.458.402

Im pa irm ent los s es  -

Initia l ba lance  (313.493)  -  (313.493)

Fina l ba lance  (313.493)  -  (313.493)

Net as s ets 4.750.253 15.394.656 20.144.909

2012

Loans Date

Capita l

Nam e As s ets L iabilities As s ets L iabilities As s ets L iabilities

GOLDMAN S AC HS  (S C HULDS C HE IN)         GS I 11-03-2011 21-07-2010 21-07-2016 - - - (14.812.613) 14.812.613 - 16.260.790 - (1.448.177)

GOLDMAN S AC HS  (S C HULDS C HE IN)         GS I 11-03-2011 24-07-2010 24-07-2016 - - - (10.548.814) 10.548.814 - 11.573.188 - (1.024.374)

DB E XP OR T/95 BS T 26-02-2003 15-06-2003 30-12-2013 - - - 554.030 - (554.030) - (510.593) (43.437)

DB E XP OR T/97 BS T 26-02-2003 15-06-2003 30-12-2015 18.946.700 - (977.480) 776.207 - (1.753.687) - (1.706.142) (47.545)

BS N-C GD (US  LE AS E ) BS T 22-09-2005 01-07-2005 01-01-2019 43.846.560 - (43.231.123) 24.789.545 - (68.020.668) - (48.770.499) (19.250.169)

BS N-C GD (US  LE AS E ) J P  MOR GAN 15-07-2009 01-07-2009 01-01-2019 - - - (5.231.127) 5.231.127 - 4.700.505 - 530.622

BS N-C GD (US  LE AS E ) C AIXA B I 16-07-2009 01-07-2009 01-01-2019 21.923.280 3.271.187 - (1.628.813) 4.900.000 - 4.700.505 - 199.495

TR E M I C  S UIS S E 16-11-2009 20-03-2007 20-03-2020 - - - 3.136.626 - (3.136.626) - (1.816.003) (1.320.623)

TR E M II C  S UIS S E 16-11-2009 24-03-2007 24-09-2021 - - - 5.589.865 - (5.589.865) - (3.030.532) (2.559.333)

TR E M II (2ª TR ANC HE ) BS T 06-06-2005 23-09-2005 23-09-2022 79.850.569 - (166.506.345) 22.808.905 - (189.315.250) - (166.698.901) (22.616.349)

TR E M II (2ª TR ANC HE ) J P  MOR GAN 08-07-2008 23-03-2008 23-09-2022 - - - (10.974.903) 10.974.903 - 10.561.546 - 413.357

DE UTS C HE  BANK (S C HULDS C HE IN) DB I 27-07-2009 18-08-2009 18-08-2014 - - - 6.910.836 - (6.910.836) - (5.721.988) (1.188.848)

DE UTS C HE  BANK (S C HULDS C HE IN) DB I 27-07-2009 18-08-2009 18-08-2016 - - - 2.301.858 - (2.301.858) - (2.084.251) (217.607)

DE UTS C HE  BANK (S C HULDS C HE IN) DB I 27-07-2009 18-08-2009 18-08-2016 - - - (318.838) - 318.838 739.134 - (420.296)

164.567.109 3.271.187 (210.714.948) 23.352.764 46.467.457 (277.263.982) 48.535.668 (230.338.909) (48.993.284)

Var ia tion Va r ia tion

Fa ir  va lue (" J V" )                

(Counterpa rt)

Fa ir  va lue (" J V" ) 

(Counterpa rt)

Fa ir  va lue                               

(Independent bank)

31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2012

Bank S WAP Initia l Fina l
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As stated in Note 2.1, during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company started to measure derivative financial 
instruments according to the "marked-to-market" determined by the counterparty with which they were hired. The 
negative variation in "Derivatives" in the amount of €25,640,519 includes : (i) the negative effect of the "marked-to-
market" update on December 31, 2012 in the amount of €48,993,283, based on the value determined by the 
counterparty on that date and reflected in the table above under the column "Fair value” ("JV") (counterpart) - 
31.12.2012" , which was recorded on December 31, 2013 under "Retained earnings" ( Note 15 ), given the Management 
Board’s conviction that the effect of the restatement of the financial statements on December 31, 2012 would not be 
relevant for comparison purposes; and (ii) the positive variation in the amount of €23,352,764 as a result of changes in 
fair value of derivative financial instruments between fiscal years, and the early settlement of several contracts as 
mentioned below, which was recorded in the income statement under "Increases / decreases in fair value". 
 
According to the sensitivity analysis reported on December 31, 2013, performed by IGCP and based on certain 
assumptions and considerations, the 1% variation impact in interest rates on the fair value of the investment portfolio 
held by the Company, as detailed above and in the ILD affections (Note 5.7), would be as follows: 
 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company settled 9 SWAP contracts having paid €15,422,250. The gains 
resulting from the settlement of these contracts, in the amount of €24,527,071, which corresponds to the difference 
between the amount paid and the "marked-to-market" determined by the counterparty with whom they were contracted 
with reference to December 31, 2012, was recorded under "Other income and gains" (Note 29), and the loss in the 
amount of €9,104,821 was recorded under "Other costs and losses" (Note 30). 
 
The SWAP contracts are detailed in the table below: 
 

 
 
 

11. Other financial assets – non-current 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012 the item "Other financial assets – non-current" includes: (i) the amount of 
€17,798,437 and €17,539,253, respectively, regarding the additional guarantee that the Company had to provide in 
April 2009, in favor of Bank of America Leasing & Capital, LCC, under the operating lease contract for the purchase of 24 
traction units, which was endorsed by the Portuguese State as a result of the Company’s decreased rating; and (ii) the 
amount of €18,651,146 on a collateral that the Company established in 2013 in American bonds with Wilmington Trust 
as a result of the Company’s rating downgrade, and the effect resulting from the change in fair value in the amount of 
€153,367, is recorded under "Increases / decreases in fair value." 
 
  

2013 +1% -1%

Fair value 40.918.862 (55.240.653)

40 .918 .862 (55 .240 .653)

Bas e financ ing Type Order Bank Type of ins trum ent Matur ity

Notiona l 

(or igina l)

Cancella tion 

da te

Net am ount 

pa id

P res ent va lue

Counterpa rt Va r ia tion

TR E M I ML 660/13-S E T C rédit S uis s e

Index linked + Infla tion Floor + 

(E UR 10Y- E UR 2Y) D igita l + 

(E UR  20Y ia  -E UR  10Y ia) 

L everaged Floor

20-03-20 80.222.338 08-04-2013 (1.300.000) (877.164) 422.836

ML 660/13-S E T C rédit S uis s e

Index linked + Infla tion Floor + 

(E UR 10Y- E UR 2Y) D igita l + 

(E UR  20Y ia  -E UR  10Y ia) 

L everaged Floor

21-09-24 88.007.484 08-04-2013 (3.000.000) (1.674.198) 1.325.802

GOLDMAN 

S C HUKDE S C HE IN
ML 1007/13-S E T Goldm an S achs Bullet S wap 21-07-16 71.042.080 20-05-2013 8.112.044 14.430.951 6.318.907

ML 1007/13-S E T Goldm an S achs Bullet S wap 24-07-16 50.000.000 20-05-2013 5.792.784 10.278.688 4.485.904

ML 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan S nawba ll, Overlay 01-01-19 34.769.094 13-06-2013 3.066.515 4.685.342 1.618.827

ML 1161/13-S E T J P  Morgan Vanilla  (R es tructured) 44827 90.036.707 13-06-2013 7.361.246 10.590.719 3.229.473

DE UTS C HE  

S C HUKDE S C HE IN
ML 1234/13-S E T Deuts che R ange 42600 25.500.000 28-06-2013 (1.243.210) (5.117.906) (3.874.696)

ML 1234/13-S E T Deuts che S wap & S hort cap 41869 150.000.000 28-06-2013 (3.561.611) (1.943.975) 1.617.636

ML 1234/13-S E T Deuts che S wap & S hort cap 42600 2.450.000 28-06-2013 194.482 886.918 692.436

15.422.250 31.259.376 15.837.126
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12. Inventories 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company’s inventories were as follows: 
 

 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company had no inventory in the custody of third parties, nor in transit or 
consignment.  
 

Cost of goods sold and materials consumed 
The cost of goods sold and materials consumed recognised in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is detailed 
as follows: 

 
 
 

Impairment losses 
The evolution of impairment losses of inventories for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is detailed below: 
 

 
 

 
 
The increases in impairment losses on inventories for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were recorded in 
under “Impairment of inventories (losses / reversals)” in the income statement. 
 
  

Inventor ies

Gros s  

am ount

Im pa irm ent 

los s es

Net 

am ount

Gros s  

am ount

Im pa irm ent 

los s es

Net 

am ount

Raw , s ubs idia ry and cons um able m ater ia ls :

Materia ls 1.144.973 (405.000) 739.973 1.002.947 (380.000) 622.947

Tools 18.732 0 18.732 22.722 - 22.722

C leaning products 41.216 0 41.216 19.668 - 19.668

Fuel 37.025 0 37.025 26.900 - 26.900

Tickets 433.525 0 433.525 130.064 - 130.064

Other m ateria ls 298.571 - 298.571 400.317 - 400.317

1.974.041 (405.000) 1.569.041 1.602.618 (380.000) 1.222.618

Cos t of goods  s old 2013 2012

Initia l ba lance 1.602.617 2.175.086

P urchas es 2.208.435 2.093.143

Adjus tm ents 313.451 (460.207)

Fina l ba lance 1.974.041 1.602.618

2.150.462 2.205.404

Raw , s ubs idia ry and 

cons um able m ater ia ls

Im pa irm ent los s es  - Inventories

Initia l 

ba lance Inc reas es Revers a ls

Fina l 

ba lance

Goods 380.000 25.000 405.000

380.000 25.000 - 405.000

2013

Im pa irm ent los s es  - Inventories

Initia l 

ba lance Inc reas es Revers a ls

Fina l 

ba lance

Goods 330.000 50.000 - 380.000

330.000 50.000 - 380.000

2012
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13. Clients and other receivables 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012 accounts receivable of the Company were as follows: 

 
 
The detail of the accounts receivable and the breakdown between current and non-current are as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Clients  and Other ac counts  receivable

Gros s  

am ount

Accum ula ted 

im pa irm ent Net am ount

Gros s  

am ount

Accum ula ted 

im pa irm ent Net am ount

Non-current:

Other accounts  receivable 10.502.602 10.502.602 12.433.723 12.433.723

10.502.602 0 10.502.602 12.433.723 - 12.433.723

Current:

C lients 4.343.036 (421) 4.342.615 8.008.373 (421) 8.007.952

Other accounts  receivable 22.589.967 (4.382.808) 18.207.158 22.783.806 (4.382.808) 18.400.998

26.933.002 (4.383.229) 22.549.774 30.792.178 (4.383.229) 26.408.950

37.435.604 (4.383.229) 33.052.376 43.225.901 (4.383.229) 38.842.673

20122013

Clients Current Non-current Current Non-current

S im tejo 59.624 - 59.624 -

Ar Telecom 463.383 - 463.383 -

Direcção Gera l de Trans portes  Terres tres 23.644 - 23.644 -

TMN - Telecom unicações  Móveis  Naciona is , S .A. 262.958 - 180.615 -

C .P . - C am inhos  de Ferro P ortugues es , E .P .E . - - 188.309 -

R E FE R 1.045 - 1.045 -

S oflus a  - S oc. F luvia l Trans portes 2.023 - 278.650 -

G roup com panies , a s s ocia tes  and a ffilia tes  (Note 32) 2.666.854 - 3.972.560 -

Other 863.505 - 2.840.543 -

4.343.036 - 8.008.373 -

Im pa irm ent of accounts  receivable (421) - (421) -

4.342.615  - 8.007.952  -

20122013

Other debtors Current Non-current Current Non-current

P a rque E xpo' 98 7.980.766 - 7.980.766 -

Trans tejo 3.157.679 10.502.602 2.577.739 12.002.602

C .P . - C am inhos  de Ferro P ortugues es , E .P .E . 747.716 - 491.366 -

Ba rreiro Municipa lity 3.101.278 - 151.833 -

L is bon Municipa lity 437.240 - 18.054 413.067

R odoviá ria  de L is boa 76.782 - 199.177 -

R E FE R 114.414 - - -

Fa re revenue 2.317.465 - 1.230.036 -

S ta ff 670.354 - 391.122 -

G roup com panies , a s s ocia tes  and a ffilia tes  (Note 32) 312.721 - 4.516.571 -

Other 3.521.606 - 5.227.142 18.054

22.438.021 10.502.602 22.783.806 12.433.723

Im pa irm ent of accounts  receivable (4.382.808) - (4.382.808) 0

18.055.213 10.502.602 18.400.998 12.433.723

22.397.827 10.502.602 26.408.950 12.433.723

2013 2012
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On August 17, 1994, the Company signed a memorandum of agreement with Parque Expo’98, S.A. (“Parque Expo’98”) 
regarding an offset payment to be received by the Company for the advance in the construction and operation of the 
Red line and corresponding stations Alameda - Oriente. The offset in the total amount of €9,975,957 was to be paid by 
Parque Expo’98 from 1995 to 1998 in the amounts of €1,995,191, €2,493,990, €2,493,990 and €2,992,787, 
respectively. As a result of this protocol, the Company recorded accounts receivable and recognised income in the 
amount of €9,975,957. Until December 31, 2013, of the total offset, the Company received €1,995,191 for the 1995 
instalment having recorded under “Other receivables” the amount of €7,980,766. 
 
In 1998, with the conclusion of the construction work and beginning of operations of the Red line and its stations, the 
Company decided to initiate the recognition of recognisable income related the compensation attributed in the period 
between May 1998 (when the line became operational) and 2003 (when the Company would conclude the construction 
phase and begin the operation in this line). 
 
On September 29, 1995, the Company signed a Memorandum of Agreement with Parque Expo’98 and the Lisbon 
Municipality, which stipulated that the Company would pay Parque Expo’98 the amount of €7,082,930 for the 
expropriation of the area required for the implementation and construction of the Oriente metro station, not having been 
decided a deadline or plan for such payment. As a result of this agreement, the Company capitalised in the costs of the 
construction of the Red line Alameda / Oriente and its stations, the amount of €7,082,930 and recorded a payable 
account under “Other payables” for the same amount (Note 23). 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 the Company signed a protocol with Transtejo, with the purpose of 
transferring to that entity the amount of €14,502,602, for work carried out on behalf of that entity in the Cais do Sodré 
river terminal. 
 
As per this agreement, Trantejo was required to pay the Metro the yearly amount of €1,000,000 which could be 
reduced, as stated in the contract, to €500,000 if that entity so notifies the Company. During the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2013, Transtejo paid €1,500,000 to the Metro and, at that date, the outstanding amount due by that 
entity as per the contract stands at €11,502,602, of which €1,000,000 are recorded as current. 
 
This receivable account does not bear interest and the amount classified as non-current has the following payment 
schedule: 
 

 
 
The Management Board believes that the value of the accounts receivable in the year ended December 31, 2013 is close 
to its fair value. 
 
Impairment losses during the years 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 
 

 
 
  

Yea rs Am ount

2015 1.000.000

2016 1.000.000

2017 1.000.000

2018 1.000.000

2019 and fol lowing 6.502.602

10.502.602

Im pa irm ent Initia l ba lance Inc reas es Revers a ls

Fina l 

ba lance

Initia l 

ba lance Inc reas es Revers a ls

Fina l 

ba lance

Of client receivables 421 - - 421 2.755 - (2.334) 421

Of other accounts  receivable 4.382.808 - - 4.382.808 4.454.186 - (71.378) 4.382.808

4.383.229 - - 4.383.229 4.456.941 - (73.712) 4.383.229

20122013
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14.  Deferred assets 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the balance of current assets “Deferrals” comprised the following: 
 

 
 
The item “Deferred assets – costs with lease contracts” in the amount of €1,730,816, relates to costs incurred with 
operating lease contracts signed in 1995, 1997, 1999, 2000, 2001 and 2002, which are recorded in the income 
statements of the period of the respective contracts. 
 
The item “Deferred income assets - work for third parties” mainly includes the amount of €35,993,483 (which includes 
the amount of €1.861.686 for work carried out in the Transtejo terminal at Cais do Sodré and the amount of 
€34,131,796 for work carried out by the Metro in Terreiro do Paço square), which the Management Board believes 
should be the subject of a protocol to rectify the situation, €9,550,544 and €7,315,347 regarding works carried out by 
this Company on behalf of Lisbon Municipality and REFER, respectively. 
 
 

15. Equity instruments 
 
On December 31, 2013, the Company’s share capital subscribed and paid, the value of which is not fixed but at that 
date amounted to €1,079,179,039, is wholly owned by the Portuguese State. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, a capital increase was made in the amount of €475,429,039, which was fully 
subscribed and paid in cash by the Portuguese State. 
 

Retained earnings: 
During the year ended December 31, 2013 the Company recorded under "Retained earnings" the amount of 
€40,398,604 related to: (i) negative differential between "marked-to-market" of derivative financial instruments 
determined by the counterparty with which they were hired, reported on December 31, 2012 and the amount 
determined by the external evaluator with reference to that date in the amount of €48,993,282 (Note 10); (ii) the 
positive amount of €3,991,943 due to the increase in interest expenses on the associated derivative financial 
instruments, which was recognised in the balance sheet at December 31, 2012 as a separate item and which are 
considered in the "marked-to-market" determined by the counterparty; and (iii) the positive amount of €4,602,735 
related to interest on loans. 
 
The negative net result of the fiscal years ended between December 31 2010 and 2012 were transferred to "Retained 
earnings" in subsequent fiscal years, despite the fact that financial statements for those years have not yet been 
formally approved by the Line Ministry. 
 
 

16. Government grants 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company received the following grants not allocated to ILD: 
 

 
 

Deferred as s ets 2013 2012

Ins urance 8.115 300

C os ts  with leas e contracts 1.730.816 2.048.687

Work for third pa rties 55.707.366 53.562.488

Other 245.050 357.437

57.691.347 55.968.912

S ubs idies

Tota l 

am ount

Am ount 

received

Revenue 

from  

period

Accum ula ted 

revenue

Other 

va r ia tions  in 

equity

S ubs idies  rela ted to as s ets :

FE DE R  - P R ODAC 10.942.880 10.942.880 494.838 7.768.383 3.174.497

FE DE R  - QC A 54.528.374 54.528.374 2.411.393 37.784.518 16.743.856

65.471.254 65.471.254 2.906.231 45.552.901 19.918.353

2013
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Grants received by the Company under the FEDER - PRODAC 1993 and QCA 1994 aimed at financing investments made 
by the Company in the prototypes for Depot and Workshops II, Depot and Workshops III and the intermediate series of 
17 traction units, a supplementary series of 10 traction units and Depot and Workshops III. 
 
 

17.  Provision and contingent liabilities 
 
The evolution of provisions in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is detailed below: 
 

  
 

 
 
On December 31, 2013 the Company recognised under "Provisions for risks and costs" the amount of €10,737,858 
relating to accrued and unpaid interest in the months of September and December 2013, to the bank with which the two 
related derivative financial instruments were hired, as a consequence of the decision of the Line Ministry and the 
Portuguese State to suspend such payments during the ongoing case proceedings in a London Court, brought by the 
bank against the Portuguese State. 
 
Thus, on December 31, 2013, overdue liabilities are reflected in the financial statements, as well as the amount of 
expenses that the Company will incur with these proceedings in case of a favourable outcome, which are estimated at 
December 31, 2013 in the amount of €287,751 and reflected under "Provision for legal proceedings in progress." 
 
The increase in the "Other provisions - Investments" includes the amount of €1,816,143 concerning the provision made 
by the Company to cover accumulated losses during the fiscal year and in previous years, as described in Note 9. 
 

S ubs idies

Tota l 

am ount

Am ount 

received

Revenue 

from  

period

Accum ula ted 

revenue

Other 

va r ia tions  in 

equity

S ubs idies  rela ted to as s ets :

FE DE R  - P R ODAC 10.942.880 10.942.880 494.838 7.273.544 3.669.336

FE DE R  - QC A 54.528.374 54.528.374 2.411.393 35.373.126 19.155.248

65.471.254 65.471.254 2.906.231 42.646.670 22.824.584

2012

P rovis ions  and Contingent liabilities
Initia l 

ba lance Inc reas es Revers a ls

Fina l 

ba lance

P rovis ions  for  r is ks  and cos ts :

L ega l proceedings  in progres s 100.007 334.192 100.005 334.194

Interes t owed 261.881 10.737.858 - 10.999.739

E xpens es  with s ta ff 142.971 - - 142.971

504.859 11.072.050 100.005 11.476.904

Other provis ions :

Im pa irm ent of financia l inves tm ents 1.973 1.817.620 - 1.819.593

Other 15.705 - - 15.705

17.678 1.817.620 - 1.835.298

522.537 12.889.670 100.005 13.312.202

2013

P rovis ions  and Contingent liabilities

Initia l 

ba lance Inc reas es Revers a ls

Fina l 

ba lance

P rovis ions  for  r is ks  and cos ts :

L ega l proceedings  in progres s 1.143.865 - 1.043.858 100.007

Interes t owed 261.881 - - 261.881

E xpens es  with s ta ff 142.971 - - 142.971

1.548.717 - 1.043.858 504.859

Other provis ions :

Im pa irm ent of financia l inves tm ents 1.572 401 - 1.973

Other 15.705 - - 15.705

17.277 401 - 17.678

1.565.994 401 1.043.858 522.537

2012
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Contigent liabilities 
On December 31, 2013, there are compensation claims from the Company in the amount of €2,078,851 (€3,694,154 in 
December 31, 2012), which mainly refer to legal actions regarding expropriation processes and damages caused by the 
network expansion works. On December 31, 2013, the Company is in the process of assessing the total value of 
expropriations, having been recorded a provision for those suits, the outcome of which is not known at the date of 
approval of these financial statements. For the remaining cases, no provision was recorded on December 31, 2013, since 
they will be recorded as expropriation charges under “Durable infrastructure investments” if those claims are eventually 
paid. 
 
 

Financial commitments and off-balance 
 

a) Health care liabilities 
 
The Company has been paying health benefits to its active staff, providing them with medical services reimbursed by the 
Company. These costs are recorded in the income statement in the year they are paid. In the year ended December 31, 
2013, health costs were recorded in the amount of €730,688 (Notes 3.15 and 28) corresponding to the health 
insurance premiums paid during that year with assets. 
 
 

b) Commitments to suppliers of fixed assets 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had undertaken commitments to suppliers of fixed assets in the amount 
of €59,386,086 (Note 7 and 18) and €89,809,794, respectively. These commitments are primarily related to the 
network expansion. In addition, the Company also signed ten operating lease contracts in the amount of €227,340,947 
(Note 7). 
 
 

18.  Financing obtained 
 
Financing related to operational activity on December 31, 2013 and 2012 is detailed in the table below: 

 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, given the state of the financial markets, including the stock market, it was 
not possible to issue long-term bonds, whereby the Company contracted financing with the DGTF in the amount of 
€412,860,000, of which €129,885,756 are associated with the transport operation activity, to be repaid in a period of 6 
years, in 12 equal and consecutive instalments at half yearly, the first of which in May 2015. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, given the state of the financial markets, including the stock market, it was 
not possible to issue long-term bonds, whereby the Company contracted financing with the DGTF in the amount of 
€648,581,846, of which €410,833,969 are associated with the infrastructure management activity, to be repaid in a 
period of 5 years, in 8 equal instalments at half yearly, the first of which in May 2014. 
 

Am ount us ed Am ount us ed

Financ ing Bank L im it Current Non-current L im it Current Non-current

Bank  loans

E m p. C P   50 M E UR BNP  P a ribas - - - - - -

E m p. C P   50 M E UR BNP  P a ribas  2014 - - - 50.000.000 50.000.000 -

E m p. C P   175 M E UR Barclays  Bank - - - - - -

E m p. L P  100 M E UR Goldm an S achs  Bank 100.000.000 - 100.000.000 100.000.000 - 100.000.000

E m p. L P  50 M E UR Goldm an S achs  Bank 50.000.000 - 50.000.000 50.000.000 - 50.000.000

E m p. C P /LP   50 M E UR Deuts che Bank 50.000.000 50.000.000 - 50.000.000 - 50.000.000

E m p. L P  613,9 M E UR D G  T F 2011 (pa rt) 105.974.436 26.493.609 52.987.218 105.974.436 26.493.609 79.480.827

E m p. L P  648,6 M E UR D G  T F 2012 (pa rt) 410.833.969 102.708.492 308.125.476 410.833.969 - 410.833.969

E m p. L P  412,9 M E UR D G  T F 2013 (pa rt) 129.885.756 - 129.885.756 - - -

Tota l bank  loans 179.202.101 640.998.450 76.493.609 690.314.796

Finance leas es :

E m p. C P /LP   M E UR D.B .E xport - L eas ing - - - 18.365.631 -

E m p. C P /LP   M E UR D.B .E xport - L eas ing 5.562.973 13.383.727 - 5.243.636 18.946.700

E m p. C P /LP   M E UR S antander Totta 3.456.669 36.978.258 - 3.367.190 43.846.560

E m p. C P /LP   M E UR BMW Bank Gm bH - S ucurs a l P ortuga l 4.459 - - 23.535 16.542

Tota l finance leas es 9.024.101 50.361.985 26.999.992 62.809.802

Finance ex pens es (11.348.761) - (1.198.563) -

Tota l banks 176.877.441 691.360.435 102.295.038 753.124.597

20122013
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, given the state of the financial markets, including the stock market, it was 
not possible to issue long-term bonds, whereby the Company contracted financing with the DGTF in the amount of 
€613,932,000, of which €105,974,438 are associated with the infrastructure management activity, to be repaid in a 
period of 5 years, in 8 equal instalments at half yearly, the first of which in May 2013. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company repaid the loans obtained from BNP Paribas and Barclays Bank, 
in the amount of €50,000,000 and €175,000,000, respectively, as a result of their maturity as stipulated in the 
contracts. In addition, the Company repaid the credit lines contracted with those two banks, amounting to 
€109,887,149, as a result of their termination, as stipulated in the contract. 
 
The portion of bank loans classified as non-current has the following repayment schedule: 
 

 
 
On December 29, 1995 and December 30, 1997, the Company signed with DB EXPORT Leasing GmbH, two lease 
contracts for 17 and 14 triple traction units, respectively. On December 31, 2013, accounts payable to that entity 
amounted to €19,046,700 (€13,383,727 classified as non-current and €5,662,973 classified as current). 
 
On December 31, 1998, the Company signed a lease contract for 24 traction units of the 95 ML series rolling stock, in 
the amount of €124,699,474 and the residual value of 3% of the equipment’s value, for the partial funding of the Metro 
Network Expansion and Modernization Plan, which has a term of 20 years and bears interest at 6 months EURIBOR 
minus 0.71%, while the Portuguese State, in its capacity as holder of the entire capital, provided endorsement. The 
financing contract was signed on January 6, 1999. On December 31, 2013, the amount payable for this lease contract 
amounts to €40,434,927. 
 
As at December 31, 2013, the Company has 55 triple traction units under finance lease, and the commitments to pay 
the rents on the finance lease contracts are as follows: 
 

 
 
The portion classified as non-current has the following repayment schedule: 
 

 
 
Income from finance leases bears annual interest rates between 3.3501% and 3.2522%. 
 
The Company has obtained in recent months, in constant communication and coordination with its shareholder, 
additional lines of credit to meet short-term liabilities and, to this date, there have not been any cases of overdue and 
unpaid bank debts. 
 
The Management Board believes that the settlement of its liabilities, particularly in regard to the short-term repayable 
financings, will continue to be met mainly by obtaining additional financing lines in coordination with the shareholder. 
 

Yea r Am ount

2015 150.849.727

2016 300.849.727

2017 124.356.118

2018 21.647.626

2019 and following 43.295.252

640.998.450

Des c ription Current Non-current Tota l

55 Traction Units  (Note 17) 9.019.642 50.361.985 59.381.627

9.019.642 50.361.985 59.381.627

2013

Yea rs Am ount

2014 20.434.554

2015 7.238.201

2016 7.430.547

2017 7.628.011

2018 and following 7.630.672

50.361.985



 
 59 

According to the Company’s budget for 2014, approved by the Portuguese Republic Assembly and considered in the 
State budget for 2014, the following is anticipated: (i) a loan from the DGTF in the amount of €307,191,761 for the 
purposes of paying interest that will expire during the 2014 fiscal year and to repay bank loans; (ii) the conversion of 
DGTF loans to capital increases in the amount of €358,306,233; and (iii) a capital increase by capital injection in the 
amount of €241,080,212, partially carried out at this the date through a capital increase of €55,000,000 (Note 35). 
 
On December 31, 2013, financing obtained with associated covenants, including those linked to the Portuguese 
Republic rating or with custody clauses, were as follows: 
 

 
 

Contrac t

Am ount ow ed 

on 31-12-2013 Term Guarantee P a r i P as s u Holding c laus e Rating

Cros s  

default

Other relevant 

c laus es

S chulds chein Loan Agreem ent 

s igned with G oldm an S achs  

Bank (E urope) P lc in J uly 10, 

2009, s ubject to G erm an L aw 

and the C ourts  of Frankfurt am  

Ma in

100.000.000 10-07-2016 Yes Yes

Los s  of S ta te-

Owned s ta tus  

(S ta te 

pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

No Yes

Negative P ledge 

/ Non-

s ubs tancia l 

change of 

na ture or object 

of the enterpris e 

S chulds chein Loan Agreem ent 

s igned with G oldm an S achs  

Bank (E urope) P lc in J uly 22, 

2009, s ubject to G erm an L aw 

and the C ourts  of Frankfurt am  

Ma in

50.000.000 24-07-2016 Yes Yes

Los s  of S ta te-

Owned s ta tus  

(S ta te 

pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

No Yes

Negative P ledge 

/ Non-

s ubs tancia l 

change of 

na ture or object 

of the enterpris e 

S chulds chein Loan Agreem ent 

s igned with Deuts che Bank AG  

and Dexia  S abadell, S .A., 

P ortuga l in J uly 24, 2009, 

m odified in J anua ry 28, 2011, 

s ubject to G erm an L aw and the 

C ourts  of Frankfurt am  Ma in

50.000.000 18-07-2014 Yes Yes

Los s  of S ta te-

Owned s ta tus  

(S ta te 

pa rticipa tion 

les s  than 51%)

(2 notches  

below A+ by S &P  

or A3 by 

Moody's ) (this  

claus e was  

elim ina ted in the 

2011 addition)

Yes

Negative P ledge 

contract with a  

gua rantee from  

the P ortugues e 

R epublic

Annex  B  - The com pany m ay, however, provide over the currently cons tituted or future cons tituted m ovable or im m ovable property, and without 

prejudice to the obliga tions  s ta ted in pa ragraph one of this  claus e: 

(i) G ua rantees  with prior written agreem ent, by the Bank, which s ha ll be provided within 5 (five) working days  from  the da te of its  com m unica tion; 

(ii) G ua rantees  under the leas es  on rolling s tock, provided tha t s uch gua rantees  a re m ade in favour of the banks  res pons ible for thos e opera tions  

and tha t only gua rantee the am ount provided by s uch entities  to finance s uch trans actions , a s  well a s  rela ted gua rantees  with thos e obliga tions  

which a re required as  obliga tions  of the C orpora tion by the banks  res pons ible for thos e opera tions ; 

(iii) G ua rantees  cons tituted by lega l or s ta tutory requirem ent or by ins tructions  from  the G overnm ent / L ine Minis try under the bus ines s  conducted 

by the C om pany; 

(iv) As s ignm ent of credits  from  E U a id rela ted to inves tm ent projects  developed by the C om pany, provided tha t s uch as s ignm ent is  m ade ​​in favour 

of the banks  financing thes e projects  before the as s ignm ent of thos e a ids  and tha t ens ure only the am ounts  m ade ​​ava ilable by s uch banks ; 

(v) G ua rantees  on property deeds , ins urance policies  or s a le and purchas e contracts  rela ted to m etro pas s enger trans port s ervice cons tituted as  

pa rt of the C om pany's  bus ines s  to s ecure the purchas e price of s uch as s ets ; 

(vi) Any gua rantee to replace an exis ting gua rantee prior to the da te of execution of this  Agreem ent or to s ubs titute any of the gua rantees  

recognis ed under this  claus e; 

(vii) Any gua rantee res ulting from  a  holding right rela ted to any property or as s et acquired by or provided to the Borrower under its  regula r bus ines s  

activity.

Appendix  A - S ec tion 11.7. As  long as  the obliga tions  under this  Agreem ent have not been fully s a tis fied, it cannot provide any gua rantees  or 

otherwis e encum ber any as s ets , other than durable infras tructure (ILD), pa rt or to becom e pa rt of its  a s s ets , a s  long as  this  s ignificantly a ffects  the 

as s ets  of the Borrower or its  ability to fulfil its  obliga tions  under this  Agreem ent, except: 

a ) G ua rantees  with prior written agreem ent, by the Bank, which s ha ll be provided within 5 working days  from  the da te of its  com m unica tion; 

b) G ua rantees  under the leas es  on rolling s tock, provided tha t s uch gua rantees  a re m ade in favour of the banks  res pons ible for thos e opera tions  

and only gua rantee the am ount provided by s uch entities  to finance its  opera tions ; 

c) G ua rantees  cons tituted by lega l or s ta tutory requirem ent or by virtue of a  regula tion or licens e rela ted to the bus ines s  of the Borrower; 

d) As s ignm ent of credits  from  E U a id rela ted inves tm ent projects  undertaken by the Borrower, provided tha t s uch as s ignm ent is  m ade ​​in favour of 

the banks  financing thes e projects  before the as s ignm ent of thos e a ids  and tha t ens ure only the am ounts  m ade ​​ava ilable by s uch banks ; 

e) G ua rantees  on property deeds , ins urance policies  or s a le and purchas e contracts  rela ted to m etro pas s enger trans port s ervice cons tituted as  

pa rt of the Borrower's  bus ines s  activity to s ecure the purchas e price of s uch as s ets ; 

f) Any gua rantee to replace an exis ting gua rantee prior to the da te of execution of this  Agreem ent or to s ubs titute any of the gua rantees  recognis ed 

under this  claus e; 

g) Any gua rantee res ulting from  a  holding right rela ted to any property or as s et acquired by or provided to the Borrower under its  regula r bus ines s  

activity; 

h) G ua rantees  in connection with or a ris ing out of the trans actions  referred to in b).

Claus e 11.8.  Not s ell, a s s ign or otherwis e convey any of its  a s s ets , other than durable infras tructure (ILD) without the prior cons ent of the Bank. 

This  prohibition does  not apply to any s a le , a s s ignm ent, trans fer or other form s  of dis pos ition, if: 

a ) R ela ted m etro pas s enger trans port s ervice ca rried out as  pa rt of the bus ines s  of the Borrower or by lega l or s ta tutory requirem ent or by virtue of 

a  regula tion or licens e rela ted to s a id bus ines s  activity ; 

b) C ons is t of a  return for com parable or s uperior in kind, va lue and qua lity as s ets  or if the ea rned return m atch their m a rket va lue; 

c) Is  ca rried out in the fram ework of s tructured leas es  and / or s a le and leas eback, in favour of the banks  financing thes e trans actions  to finance 

the as s ets  in progres s ; 

d) The s um  of the corres ponding m arket va lue or the received com pens a tion, whichever is  higher, and the m arket va lue or the com pens a tion 

received, whichever is  higher, for any s a le , leas e, trans fer or other form  of dis pos ition (not including with the opera tions  a llowed in the preceding 

pa ragraphs ) s ha ll not exceed in any fis ca l yea r the am ount of €15,000,000 (fifteen m illion E uros ).
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As a result of the Company’s rating downgrade, and that of an international bank issuing a letter of credit, the Company 
defaulted on the contractual guarantees of the “US Cross Border Lease” operation, linked to rolling stock financing. Due 
to this situation, during the 2013 fiscal year, the Company issued collateral in the amount of €18,651,146 (Note 11). 
 
 

19. Post-employment benefits – established benefits plan 
 
As mentioned in Note 3.15, the Company is committed to pay supplements for retirement, disability and survival 
pensions of its employees. On December 31, 2013, the number of active employees and retirees / pensioners totalled 
1,068 and 1,425 respectively (1,127 and 1,449 on December 31, 2012). 
 
The abovementioned benefits correspond to supplements to the pension plan provided by Social Security and its 
definition is based on the number of years of service to the Company, contributions to the Social Security system and 
the amount of the last salary before retirement. 
 
During the 2004 fiscal year, the Company decided, in agreement with the Unions, that all employees admitted post 
December 31, 2003, would no longer benefit from these pension plan supplements. 
 
In the year ended December 31, 2013, an actuarial assessment was carried out of the plan’s assets and of the current 
value of the commitment and benefits, defined by an independent entity. 
 
According to actuarial studies reported on December 31, 2013 and 2012, the current value of the Company’s 
responsibilities to active and retired staff for past services was estimated at: 
 

 
 
The actuarial study reported on December 31, 2013 was performed using the “Projected Unit Credit” method and 
considered the following assumptions as well as technical and actuarial techniques: 
 

 
 
As at December 31, 2013, the following was taken into account in the quantification of liabilities for post-employment 
benefits: (i) the amendment made by the 2014 State Budget concerning the suspension of payments pension 
supplements by public companies with losses; and (ii) the change in the retirement age from 65 to 66 years of age. 
 
  

2013 2012

Active em ployees 50.459.418 56.655.595

R etired 166.527.727 206.083.505

216.987.145 262.739.100

P rojec ted Unit Credit 2013 2012

Morta lity tables TV88/90 - France

Ma le m orta lity table TV73/77-1

Fem a le m orta lity table TV88/90

Dis ability tables  E KV80 E VK 80

Average wage growth ra te

Wage growth ra te until 55 yea rs  of age 2,00% 2,50%

Wage growth ra te a fter 55 yea rs  of age 1,50% 2,50%

Average annua l fund revenue ra te 3,50% 3,75%

Average annua l pens ion growth ra te 0,00% 1,00%

Average annua l update ra te until norm a l retirem ent age for pre-retirem ent ins ta lm ents 1,50% 2,50%
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The evolution of the Company’s pension liabilities in the 2013 and 2012 fiscal years is as follows: 
 

 
 
The cost of current services and the cost of interest for 2013, in the amounts of €2,302,813 and €9,852,716, 
respectively, were recorded in the income statement under “Staff costs”. 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company recognised in its financial statements the amounts of €44,344,250 and 
€5,486,752, respectively, relating to actuarial losses for the year, under the item “Retained earnings”, as described in the 
accounting policy (Note 3.15). 
 
On December 31, 2013, actuarial losses result mainly from the differentiation in the mortality tables between males and 
females, actuarial gains from the suspension of pension payments in 2014 and the change in retirement age. 
In the year ended December 31, 2013, the liabilities for the payment of supplemental pension benefits in the amount of 
€216,987,145 are recorded under “Liabilities for post-employment benefits”. 
 
On December 31, 2013 the Company has not provided any funds to meet those responsibilities, which are recorded in 
the balance sheet. 
 
 

20. Suppliers 
 
The balance for the item “Suppliers” on December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows: 
 

 
 
 

21. State and Other Public Entities 
 
According to current legislation, tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities for a period of 
four years (five years for Social Security), except when there are tax losses, tax benefit grants or ongoing inspections, 
claims and appeals, in which case, depending on the circumstances, the periods are extended or suspended. Therefore, 
tax returns for the years 2010 to 2013 may still be subject to revision. 
 
Under Article 88 of the Corporate Income Tax (IRC) Code, the Company is also subject to autonomous taxation on a 
range of reference rates provided for in that article. 
 
The Management Board believes that any adjustments resulting from reviews / inspections by the tax authorities to 
these tax returns will not have a significant effect on the financial statements ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. 
 
  

2013 2012

Tota l res pons ibilities  a t beginning of the yea r 262.739.100 262.695.165

C os ts  of current s ervices 2.302.813 3.373.150

C os t of interes t 9.852.716 15.761.710

Benefits  pa id during the yea r (13.563.234) (13.604.173)

Actua ria l ga ins  / los s es  during the yea r (44.344.250) (5.486.752)

Tota l res pons ibilities  a t yea r end 216.987.145 262.739.100

S uppliers 2013 2012

C om panhia  C a rris  de Ferro 64.378 158.937

E dp C om ercia l 840.714 -

E facec E ngineering and S ys tem s , S .A. 29.021 23.524

E m el 1.170 290.726

G roup C om panies  (Note 32) 461.039 4.143

Iberlim , S .A. 1.916 65.956

G rupo 8 - S urveillance and P revention - 863

Iberlin, S .A. 10.891 109.238

Optim us  C om m unica tions , S .A. 1.720 10.683

Thys s enkrupp L ifts , S .A. 42.818 24.521

Other 162.599 755.690

1.616.266 1.444.281
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On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the item “State and other public bodies” had the following structure: 
 

 
 
On December 31, 2013, amounts relating to Personal Income Tax and contributions to Social Security correspond to the 
withholdings in the wages processed in December 2013, to be paid in January 2014. 
 
 

22. Income tax 
 
Expenses with income taxes as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 
 

 
 
As a consequence of the amendment to the Corporate Income Tax Code, starting in the 2012 fiscal year, the deduction 
of tax losses to carry in each tax period cannot exceed the equivalent to 75% of the respective taxable income. Due to 
this situation, tax authorities understand that the transition adjustments to the Accounting Standards System (reported 
on January 1, 2010) might be relevant to the calculation of income tax for the year. 
 
The Company believes that given the nature of the transition adjustments made, these should not contribute to the 
calculation of taxable income for the year 2012 and 2013. Hence, the Company intends to request binding information 
on this topic to the tax authorities. 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012 reportable tax losses amounted to €706,933,656 and €792,668,096, respectively. The 
expiry date of the existing tax losses on those dates is as follows: 
 

 
 
  

S ta te and other public  bodies As s ets L iabilities As s ets L iabilities

Corpora te incom e tax :

P aym ents  on account 280.000 - 280.000 -

Tax es tim ate - 87.525 - 97.394

Withholding tax 2.103.321 - 2.232.747 -

P ers ona l incom e tax - 1.082.278 - 693.318

Added va lue tax 1.255.287 - 1.657.499 -

Contr ibutions  for  S oc ia l S ecur ity - 1.131.299 - 1.119.908

Other tax es 756.087 296.590 3.393 2.195.685

4.394.694 2.597.692 4.173.639 4.106.305

20122013

Incom e tax 2013 2012

C urrent tax 87.525 97.394

87.525 97.394

Fis c a l los s es Am ount Ex piry da te Am ount Ex piry da te

G enera ted in 2006

G enera ted in 2007 118.382.911 2013

G enera ted in 2008 120.689.141 2014 120.689.141 2014

G enera ted in 2009 147.456.480 2015 147.456.480 2015

G enera ted in 2010 155.633.266 2014 155.633.266 2014

G enera ted in 2011 159.811.290 2015 159.811.290 2015

G enera ted in 2012 90.695.009 2017 90.695.009 2017

G enera ted in 2013 32.648.471 2017

706.933.656 792.668.096

20122013
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23. Other payables 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the item “Other payables” was as follows: 
 

  
 
The balance of the item "Accrued expenses creditors" on December 31, 2013 and 2012, refers mainly to expenses 
incurred by the Company with investments, which had not yet been invoiced at the date of this balance sheet. 
 
The amount of €6,044,200 (€4,137,743 on December 31, 2012) concerning "Trade investment" refers to the balance 
payable to suppliers relating to the acquisition of tangible fixed assets, of which: (i) €1,300,017 are payable to the 
Municipality of Lisbon; (ii) €1,315,421 are payable to CJC – Engenharia e Projetos; and (iii) €541.4760 are payable to 
Siemens. 
 
 

24. Deferred liabilities 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the item “Deferred liabilities” was as follows: 
 

 
 
Capital gains arising from finance lease agreements linked to the 14 and 24 traction units are being deferred to their 
respective terms (Note 29). 
 
 

25. Revenue 
 
The revenue recognised by the Company on December 31, 2013 and 2012 is broken down as follows: 
 

 
 
  

Other ac counts  payable 2013 2012

Other creditors :

P a rque E xpo' 98 (Note 13) 7.082.930 7.082.930

S ta ff 492.748 450.722

Vacation, vaca tion a llowance and as s ocia ted s ocia l expens es 7.198.543 8.769.222

Overdue unpa id interes t 18.546.087 12.985.024

Accrued expens es  creditors 277.341 2.920.727

Inves tm ent s uppliers 6.044.200 4.137.743

Other 2.711.924 2.620.254

42.353.773 38.966.622

Deferred liabilities 2013 2012

Financia l leas es  - deferred capita l ga ins 1.578.232 2.024.861

Fare revenue 1.350.735 1.290.810

Incom e from  property 2.035 1.969

2.931.002 3.317.640

Revenue 2013 2012

S a les :

S crap 90.937 1.031

P rovis ion of s ervic es :

Fa re revenue 77.487.718 78.381.310

S econda ry s ervices 3.509.726 3.350.713

Other 6 -

81.088.387 81.733.054
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26. Operating subsidies 
 
The detail of operating subsidies received by the Company as at December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows: 
 

 
 
On December 31, 2013, the financial compensation granted by the State as non-refundable compensatory allowance, to 
partially fund its operation in compliance with the public service obligations, amounted to €46,640,000 (€44,000,000 
recognised as revenue after VAT deduction), as per the Council of Ministers Resolution 23/2013 of April 4. 
 
On December 31, 2012, the financial compensation granted by the State as non-refundable compensatory allowance, to 
partially fund its operations in compliance with the public service obligations, amounted to €46,460,000 (€44,000,000 
recognised as revenue after VAT deduction), as per the Council of Ministers Resolution 53/2012 of May 31. 
 
During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the State was also awarded financial compensation for the 
travel passes 4_18@escola.tp and sub23@superior.tp, in the amounts of €645,229 (€608,707 recognised as revenue 
after VAT deduction) and €1,651,113 (€1,557,654 recognised as revenue after VAT deduction), respectively. 
 
 

27.  Supplies and external services 
 
For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the item “Supplies and external services” was as follows: 
 

 
 
The item “Rents and leases” mainly includes the amount of €7,764,009 related to operating lease instalments 
(€9,276,929 as at December 31, 2012). The decrease compared to the 2012 fiscal year is due to the fact that the 
variable component that makes up the income has decreased when compared to 2012, as a consequence of the 
reduction of the indexed interest rate. 
 
The decreases in “Cleaning, hygiene and comfort” and “Surveillance and security” are a consequence of cost 
containment measures and the reduction of train frequency. 
 
  

Opera ting s ubs idies 2013 2012

C om pens atory a llowances 44.000.000 44.000.000

"4_18@escola.tp" pass 312.602 539.854

"S ub23@ s uperior.tp" pas s 296.105 1.017.800

P AII - S enior C itizens ' Integra ted S upport P rogram m e 305.482 142.623

S ocia l+ pas s 449.460 401.917

45.363.649 46.102.194

S upplies  and ex terna l s ervic es 2013 2012

E lectricity 8.148.655 7.864.081

R ents  and leas es 7.918.025 9.342.423

C ons erva tion and repa ir 4.018.437 5.131.344

C leaning, hygiene and com fort 2.665.399 3.027.963

S urveillance and s ecurity 5.186.241 5.881.152

S pecia lis ed work 1.238.931 1.039.670

Other 2.704.030 3.058.995

31.879.718 35.345.628
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28.  Staff costs 
 
“Staff costs” for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 comprise the following: 
 

 
 
The decrease in “Staff wages” for the year ended December 31, 2013, was mainly due to wage restraint measures 
imposed by Law 66-B/2012 of the 2013 State Budget. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognised pension liabilities in this item, with liabilities for 
current services amounting to €2,302,813 (in 2012 this was recorded under "Provisions" for the amount of €3,373,150) 
and interest costs amounting to €9,852,716 (in 2012 this was recorded under "Interest and similar expenses" for the 
amount of €15,761,710). 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the average number of staff members was 1,490 and 1,540, 
respectively. At year-end employees were in total 1,451 and 1,525, respectively. 
 
 

29.  Other income and gains 
 
The item “Other income and gains” for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 comprises the following: 
 

 
 
The balance of “Recognition of capital gains” relates to the amortisation of capital gains from the 14 and 24 traction 
units, which on December 31, 2013 amounted to €250,922 and €195,707, respectively (Note 24). 
 
The balance of the item "SWAP gains" reflects the difference between the "marked-to-market" reported on December 
31, 2012 and the amount by which the SWAP contracts cancellation was carried out during the year ended December 
31, 2013 (Note 10). Losses from the cancellation of SWAP contracts are recognised under "Other costs and losses" 
(Note 30). 
 
  

S ta ff cos ts 2013 2012

Wages  of the executive bodies 187.687 281.419

S ta ff wages 46.425.805 47.567.246

P os t-em ploym ent benefits 13.563.234 13.604.173

C om pany res pons abilities  with pens ions 12.155.529 0

E xpens es  with wages 10.007.051 10.384.553

Ins urance for work rela ted accidents  and occupationa l dis eas es  (Note 17) 730.689 899.778

Welfa re expens es 660.936 1.120.133

Other 2.666.887 1.440.489

86.397.818 75.297.791

Other incom e and ga ins 2013 2012

Inves tm ent s ubs idies  (Note 16) 2.906.231 2.906.231

R ecognition of capita l ga ins 446.629 446.629

S ocia l s ervices 150.738 203.299

Inventory ga ins  - leftover 181.581 53.711

S WAP  ga ins 24.527.071 -

E nergy s a les 488.224 395.010

Late paym ent interes t - 57.334

P roperty rents  (Note 8) 22.925 24.726

Others 613.092 524.445

29.336.492 4.611.385
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30. Other costs and losses 
 
The item “Other costs and losses” for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 comprises the following: 
 

 
 
The balance of "SWAP losses" reflects the difference between the "marked-to-market" reported on December 31, 2012 
and the amount by which the SWAP contracts cancellation was carried out during the year ended December 31 2013 
(Note 10). Gains from the cancellation of SWAP contracts are recognised under "Other income and gains" (Note 29). 
 
The item “Late payments interest" on December 31, 2013 and 2012, relates mainly to interest charged by contractors 
for the late payment of investment invoices, as per the established in the contracts. 
 
 

31. Financial results 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the balance in this item was as follows: 
 

 
 
The amount of €4,219,365, recorded under “Finance leases”, regards financial costs incurred with lease contracts hired 
by the Company (Note 18). 
 
The amount of €22,771,264 recorded under "Other financial expenses" on December 31, 2012, includes €15,761,710 of 
costs on interest bearing liabilities for post-employment benefits (Note 19), which in the year ended December 31, 
2013 were recorded under "Staff costs". 
 
  

Other cos ts  and los s es 2013 2012

Donations - 231.559

Municipa l property tax 100.150 294.481

Fees  / C ontributions 91.844 107.352

Inventory los s es 55.912 88.302

S WAP  los s es 9.104.821 -

La te paym ent interes t 421.610 536.731

Unrecoverable debts - 2.334

Other 1.636.010 1.086.052

11.410.347 2.346.811

Financ ia l res ults 2013 2012

Ex pens es  and los s es :

Interes t borne on bank loans 34.503.908 43.774.594

Finance leas es 4.219.365 8.570.460

Other financia l expens es - 22.771.264

38.723.273 75.116.318

Incom e from  interes t :

Interes t from  financia l inves tm ents 24.405 -

Other 854.645 -

879.050 -

Financ ia l res ults  (37.844.223)  (75.116.318)
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32. Related parties 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, the balance in this item was as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
The item “Other payables” concerns the amounts payable to Ferconsult and Ensitrans on December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
in the amounts of €194,379 and €111,889, respectively, which are recorded under “Durable infrastructure investments” 
(Note 5.9). 
 
  

Rela ted pa rties

Clients                            

(Note 13)

Loans  

(Note 9)

IRC - 

W ithholding 

tax

Other ac counts  

receivable 

(Note 13)

S uppliers  

(Note 20)

Other 

ac counts   

payable Net effec t

S ubs idia r ies

Fercons ult, S .A. - - 79.675 223.540 - 194.379 108.836

Metrocom , S .A. 61.248 - 379.542 3.731 4.373 - 440.148

As s oc ia tes

P ublim etro 2.281.624 - - - - - 2.281.624

E ns itrans  A.E .I.E . - - - 85.450 - 111.619 (26.169)

J oint ventures

Otlis , A.C .E . 323.982 - 1.097 - 456.666 - (131.587)

Rela ted com panies

G IL , S .A. - 19.143.134 - - - - 19.143.134

2.666.854 19.143.134 460.314 312.721 461.039 305.998 21.815.986

Accounts  Receivable Accounts  payable

2013

Rela ted pa rties

Clients                            

(Note 13)

Loans  

(Note 9)

IRC - 

W ithholding 

tax

Other ac counts  

receivable 

(Note 13)

S uppliers  

(Note 20)

Other 

ac counts   

payable Net effec t

S ubs idia r ies

Fercons ult, S .A. - 1.031.836 79.675 4.157.891 - 4.965.198 304.204

Metrocom , S .A. 592.874 - 282.761 3.731 1.951 - 877.415

As s oc ia tes -

P ublim etro 3.379.686 - - 269.499 - - 3.649.185

E ns itrans  A.E .I.E . - - - 85.450 - 125.889 (40.439)

J oint ventures -

Otlis , A.C .E . - - - - 2.192 - (2.192)

Rela ted com panies -

G IL , S .A. - 14.050.474 - - - - 14.050.474

3.972.560 15.082.310 362.436 4.516.571 4.143 5.091.087 18.838.647

Accounts  Receivable Accounts  payable

2012
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During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the following transactions were carried out with related parties: 
 

  
 

 
 
 

33. Guarantees 
 
On December 31, 2013 and 2012, Company guarantees amounted to €61,157,244 and €61,157,244 respectively, 
primarily related to financing contracts and ongoing legal proceedings. 
 

The breakdown of the Company’s liabilities related to guarantees over legal proceedings on December 31, 2013 is as 
follows: 
 

 
 
  

Rela ted pa rties

Inventory 

purchas e

Fix ed as s ets  

purchas e

S ervic es  

received

S ervic es  

rendered

S ubs idia r ies :

Fercons ult, S .A. - 2.748.038 79.944 323.397

Metrocom , S .A. - - 8.411 1.189.829

As s oc ia tes

P ublim etro - - - 1.141

E ns itrans  A.E .I.E . - - - -

J oint ventures

Otlis , A.C .E . 120.011 8.040 1.271.139 2.881.903

Rela ted com panies

G IL , S .A. - - 304.234 -

120.011 2.756.078 1.663.728 4.396.270

2013

Rela ted pa rties

Inventory 

purchas e

Fix ed as s ets  

purchas e

S ervic es  

received

S ervic es  

rendered

S ubs idia r ies :

Fercons ult, S .A. - 432.434 95.876 111.303

Metrocom , S .A. - - 6.346 1.820.841

As s oc ia tes

P ublim etro - - - 2.042.354

E ns itrans  A.E .I.E . - - - -

J oint ventures

Otlis , A.C .E . 131.928 14.050 566.916 1.827.467

Rela ted com panies

G IL , S .A. - - 304.234 (51.702)

131.928 446.484 973.372 5.750.264

2012

2013

Bank Am ount Begin da te Benefic ia ry

Banco BP I 7.661 17-08-2011 C m  L is boa

Banco BP I 13.087 30-03-2010 E dp - S erv.Univers a l, S .A.

Banco BP I 1.583 30-06-2010 Trib.Tribut.2ª.Ins t.L is

Banco BP I 95.482 11-05-2006 Finanças  4ºba irro Fis ca l

Banco BP I 7.494 10-03-2006 Trib.Adm .F .L x-2ºjuízo

Banco BP I 6.940 03-07-2006 Trib.Adm .F .L x-2ºjuízo

Barclays  Bank 17.458 25-05-1994 P etroga l

Banco BP I 924.000 01-02-2012 4ªVAR A C ÍVE L  L IS BOA-2ªS E C Ç ÃO

1.073.705
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34. Disclosures required by law 
 

Fees billed by the Statutory Auditor 
Total aggregate fees billed by the Statutory Auditor for the year ended December 31, 2013 relating to the statutory 
annual accounts amounted to €12,895. 
 
 

35. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
Following Order no. 1023683 of January 21, 2014, and based on item 2 of article 59 of the Decree-Law 133/2013 of 
October 3 and article 4 of the By-laws of Metropolitano de Lisboa, E.P.E., approved by Decree-Law 148-A/2009, of 
January 20, it was determined to increase the Company’s share capital by €55,000,000, subscribed in cash by the State 
on the following dates: (i ) €20,000,000 on January 20, 2014; and (ii) €35,000,000 by March 12, 2014. At the date of 
approval of these financial statements the aforementioned capital increase was fully subscribed and paid, and the By-
laws were amended accordingly, reflecting the Company’s share capital increase to €1,134,179,039.20. 
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